
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

28 January 2022 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee on 
Monday, 7th February, 2022 at 6.30 pm 

in the JAKEMANS STADIUM, BUFC, WYBERTON, BOSTON 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Peter Watson 
Vice Chairman: Councillor George Cornah 
 Councillors Tom Ashton, Richard Austin BEM, David Brown, 

Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Martin Howard, 
Frank Pickett, Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting, held 8th November 2021 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Thursday 3rd February  
 

 
PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS (Pages 7 - 18) 
 

 (A report presented by Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director – Finance)  
 

2   DRAFT BUDGET SETTING REPORT AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY 2022/23 - 2026/27 (Pages 19 - 100) 
 

 (A report presented by Peter Davy, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client)  
 
 

3   WORK PROGRAMME AND TRAINING UPDATE (Pages 101 - 104) 
 

 (For Members to consider the Committee’s work programme and note the Training 
update.) 
 

 
 

 
Notes: 
 

The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Pippa Rose, 
Municipal Buildings, Boston, 01205 314228    email: pippa.rose@boston.gov.uk  
 

Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify 01205 314228    
email: pippa.rose@boston.gov.uk as soon as possible. 
 

Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 

 



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

8 November 2021 

Present: Councillor Peter Watson (Chairman),  (Vice-Chairman), Councillors 
Tom Ashton, Richard Austin BEM, David Brown, Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, 
Paul Goodale, Martin Howard, Frank Pickett, Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Officers –  
Deputy Chief Executive (Programme Delivery & SIRO), Insights & Transformation 
Manager, Head of Internal Audit (City of Lincoln Council), Principal Auditor (City of 
Lincoln Council), Manager – Public Sector, Mazars and Senior Democratic Services 
Officer 
 
12   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the last meeting, held on 20th September 2021, were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
13   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies were received from Councillor George Cornah  
 
14   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
15   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
16   UPDATE ON AUDIT OF STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2020/21 

 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) gave a verbal update on the progress of 
the audit of the Council’s Financial Statements for 2020/21 as follows. 
 
The external audit of Boston BC’s Financial Statements for 20/21 was still in its early 
stages.  
 
External auditors were due to commence Boston audit work again from week 
commencing 22nd November for 2 weeks.  Throughout this audit work, the officer would 
ensure their audit queries and requests were dealt with as a priority in order that this 
work could be progressed quickly. 
 
Confirmation was given at the last meeting when the draft Financial Statements were 
presented that the Committee would receive be updated on any changes that were 
made during the review and audit process. There were four changes currently being 
made to the accounts to bring to the Committee’s attention, which were briefly referred 
to at the last meeting. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A



Audit & Governance Committee 
8 November 2021 
 

1. An updated pensions report had now been received from the actuary. Officers were 

informed by LCC that there were some updated asset valuations that were not included 

in the first set of pension reports, due to the timing of this information being available – 

this was an item that affected many local authorities throughout Lincolnshire and wider, 

not just Boston.  In Boston’s report, this was a £1.2m increase in the closing fair value of 

pension fund assets, which reduced the net pensions liability by this same figure. This 

reduced the net pensions liability in the Balance Sheet offset against the pensions 

reserve so effectively increased the net worth of the Council by this value. There was no 

impact on the General Fund outturn due to these accounting entries being reversed in 

the Movement in Reserves Statement under statutory accounting requirements. 

2. The amount owing to East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) by Boston regarding Strategic 

Alliance arrangements at the year-end was reduced by £42,000 as a result of a full 

review of the recharges between each authority. This was not material but was adjusted 

for completeness, and this was a favourable movement of £42,000 on the outturn report 

and on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, and reduced the creditor 

to ELDC in the Balance Sheet at the year-end. This adjustment had been reviewed and 

approved by the new S151 Officer. 

3. Business Rates Levy – as discussed at the previous meeting, LG Futures were engaged 

to review the bad debt provision of the Collection Fund and an additional amount was set 

aside for the potential irrecoverable business rates debts. This did increase the Business 

Rates deficit, but additional Tax Income Guarantee income was received. As a result, the 

Business Rates levy payable to the pool increased by £128,000. 

4. Finally, officers had undertaken a review of the treatment of the grants relating to Covid 

and had identified £166,000 of New Burdens funding incorrectly classified on the working 

papers.  It had been put it into creditors on the Balance Sheet at year-end, effectively 

owing back to Central Government, where it should have been put into reserves as it was 

for the Council to decide how to utilise this money in administering the grants. This 

reduced the creditors on the Balance Sheet at year-end by £166,000 and increased 

usable reserves. 

Taking these adjustments into account in total, the General Fund outturn position was 
improved by £80,000. This was proposed to be transferred to the Covid budget 
pressures smoothing reserve as part of the outturn report, being presented to Cabinet in 
December. 
 
Whilst every effort was taken to ensure the draft financial statements were as accurate 
as possible at the time of publishing, they were 95 pages long and it was often the case 
that upon further review, officers find items that need adjusting. It was much more 
preferable that officer found these items before the auditors, in order that they could be 
transparent and ensure the required adjustments were made. 
 
The General Ledger had been updated with these entries, and full working papers 
containing an audit trail of these changes and the notes they impact on in the accounts 
was currently in progress, this would be finalised this week. Officers were not aware of 
any further changes at this point in time, but they would inform the Committee of any 
further amendments when the audited Financial Statements were presented for 
approval. It was aimed to present these to the Committee in January, subject to no 
significant issues arising during the audit, and subject to no further delays regarding 
audit work.  

Page 2



Audit & Governance Committee 
8 November 2021 

 

 
Officers were in the process of arranging a training session on the Financial Statements, 
which would hopefully keep the document fresh in the Committee’s mind ready for the 
meeting where Members would be asked to consider and approve the final version of 
the audited Financial Statements, hopefully in January. 
 
17   TREASURY MANAGEMENT - 2021/22 MID-YEAR UPDATE 

 
The Interim Treasury & Investment Manager presented the Mid-Year Report on the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy.  
 
The report, attached at Appendix A, covered the following areas: 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy 

• The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential indicators) 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22 
 
Attached at Appendix B was an economic update for the first six months of the 2021/22 
financial year, provided by Link Asset Services, the Council’s external advisors.  This 
included the outlook for the remainder of the financial year along with interest rate 
forecasts.   
 
The report referred to a key element of the Council’s Governance Framework and, 
therefore, represented an important contribution to the evidence trail in support of the 
Annual Governance Statement 2021/22. 
 
At 30 September 2021, the Council held £24.105m in cash investments (£17.690m at 31 
March) and £20.711m in property funds (£19.492m at 31 March).  

 
The Council budgeted to receive £1,016,000 in gross investment income in 2021/22 
comprising £977,000 from Property Funds (including £215,000 management fees) and 
£39,000 from cash investments. 

 
As at 30 September 2021, total investment income for the year was estimated to be 
£946,000 comprising £924,000 from Property Funds and £22,000 from cash 
investments. Property Fund Management fees for 2021/22 were currently estimated at 
£215,000.  

 
In 2021/22, cumulatively to 30 September 2021, the Council achieved an average gross 
revenue return (before deduction of management charges) of 4.46% from the Property 
Fund holdings, and 3.42% net (after the deduction of those charges).  
 
Treasury (cash) Investments achieved an average rate of 0.9% compared to the 
benchmark average 3-month LIBID rate of -0.054%.  
 
Borrowing at 30 September 2021 was £16.449m of which £15.449m was from the Public 
Works & Loans Board. Total borrowing costs for 2021/22 were projected to be 
£494,000.  
 

Page 3



Audit & Governance Committee 
8 November 2021 
 

Treasury Management continued to require close attention given the current financial 
climate. Officers would continue to be vigilant and report any significant issues to this 
Committee. 
 
Members discussed the Council’s cash and property fund investments 
 
It was explained that the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy stated that investments 
were limited with any one institution to no more than £3m invested per institution, and £5m per 
counterparty ‘group’. The 28 working days residual balances in excess of the £5m limit were 
deposited in the Council’s 
current bank account (HSBC) for cash flow reasons in accordance with paragraph 7.3 of the 
Treasury Management Strategy). 

 
The average level of funds available for investment from 1 April to 30 September 2021 was 
£21.683. Of this, an average of £10.683m was available on a temporary basis, the level 

dependent on the timing of precept and business rate pool payments, receipt of grants and 
capital programme spend. 
 
With respect to the property fund investments, it was reported that the difference between 
purchase price (the amount invested) and fair value reflected premiums paid or discount 
received against the Funds’ ‘Net Asset Value’ at the settlement date together with the movement 
in fund valuations since acquisition.  Fair values had increased during the first half of the 
financial year, by 5.89% since 31 March 2021, largely due to the vaccination process that had 
helped to combat COVID-19 and the economy rebounding as a result of restrictions lifting. 
 
Members noted that the property funds were long-term investments and there was satisfaction 
with the increase in fair values since March. 
 
In response to questions, it was explained that although borrowing costs had to be deducted, 
there was still a healthy return from investments.  Inflation and increases in interest rates were 
beyond the Council’s control, but it was hoped this was a temporary situation as it was largely 
due to the pandemic and Brexit.  Officers monitored the situation continuously and Members 
would receive a monthly finance update. 
 

Action: JM 
Carry out work with respect to revenue sources  

 
Efforts were still ongoing to obtain more information about Council’s £1m loan, to move this 
matter forward.  Payments had been suspended to use as leverage to secure information and 
some had been provided, but not sufficient.  Members noted that it might not be possible to gain 
full details of this loan, but that the Council’s property fund investments were performing well. 
 
18   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2021/22 

 
The Internal Audit Team Manager presented the Internal Audit Progress Report for 
November 2021. 
 
As at 14th October, 37% of the planned days had been completed, against the target of 
50%. 
 
In this period one assurance review has been completed, the Boston Town Area 
Committee, which had been given High assurance. 
 

Page 4



Audit & Governance Committee 
8 November 2021 

 

Six audits were in progress:  
• Brexit – fieldwork in progress 
• Towns Fund – report being agreed 
• Income – fieldwork in progress 
• Housing Benefit Subsidy – report being agreed 
• Carbon Reduction  - Planning 
• Flood Management - Planning 
 
Other Significant work reported was the completion of Housing Benefit Subsidy work on 
behalf of the External Auditor and Dept for Work & Pensions.  This was a large piece of 
work that provided assurance on the accuracy of benefit claims and that the Council had 
claimed the correct subsidy based on that accuracy. An update would be provided in a 
future progress report once testing had been finalised and reported to management on 
the results. This work had been prioritised in September, which meant that the Brexit 
and Income audits had been put on hold, but they had since been restarted. 
 
A recommendation update was attached to the report at Appendix 3. 
 
Members congratulated the Chairman and Committee Members of the Boston Town 
Area Committee on the excellent outcome of the audit of ht4e Committee.   
 

Action: MW 
Consider rewording the reference to PE21 as a project no longer exists under that 
name. 

 
19   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
Members discussed the work programme.   
 
It was noted that the Committee’s consideration of the Model Code of Conduct had been 
put back from the January meeting due to unforeseen circumstances.  Members felt that 
the code should be considered without delay.  It was thought the Committee had already 
agreed the adoption of the Local Government Association’s model code, but the 
Portfolio Holder confirmed it had not done so and it was recognised that the correct 
procedure would be for the Committee to formally receive it. 
 

Action: SK 
Speak to key officers in order to bring the Model Code of Conduct to the Committee as 
soon as possible  

 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 19.47 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

REPORT TO: Audit & Governance Committee 

DATE: 7th February 2022 

SUBJECT:  APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Jonathon Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate & Development) & S151 

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

The current auditor appointment arrangements cover the period up to and including the audit 

of the 2022/23 accounts. 

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (“PSAA”) is now undertaking a procurement for the 

next appointing period, covering audits for 2023/24 to 2027/28. All local government bodies 

need to make important decisions about their external audit arrangements from 2023/24. They 

have options to arrange their own procurement and make the appointment themselves or in 

conjunction with other bodies, or they can join and take advantage of the national collective 

scheme administered by PSAA. 

 

Recommendation(s) to Audit and Governance Committee: 

To consider the contents of the report, to note the recommendations to Full Council, and to 

submit any relevant comments where appropriate. 

Recommendation(s) to Full Council: 

1. To accept Public Sector Audit Appointments’ invitation to opt into the sector-led option for 

the appointment of external auditors to principal local government and police bodies for five 

financial years from 1 April 2023. 

2. That delegated authority be given to the Section 151 officer (or deputy in their absence) to 

communicate the willingness of the council to join the scheme, led by PSAA and to enter 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



into the scheme after a satisfactory examination / negotiation of the proposed terms & 

conditions is concluded. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The national offer provides the appointment of an independent auditor with limited 

administrative cost to the council. By joining the scheme, the council would be acting with other 

councils to optimise the opportunity to influence the market that a national procurement 

provides.    

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

The Council elects not to join the national procurement exercise and opts to appoint its own 

external auditor under the Act. (Not Recommended). 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

Procurement of External Audit for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28 

1.1. The current auditor appointment arrangements cover the period up to and including the 

audit of the 2022/23 accounts. At its Council meeting on 21st November 2016, the Council 

opted into the ‘appointing person’ national auditor appointment arrangements established 

by PSAA for the period covering the accounts for 2018/19 to 2022/23.   

 

1.2. Under the Local Government Audit & Accountability Act 2014 (“the Act”), the council is 

required to appoint an auditor to audit its accounts for each financial year.  The council has 

three options;  

• To appoint its own auditor, which requires it to follow the procedure set out in the Act.  

• To act jointly with other authorities to procure an auditor following the procedures in the 
Act.  

• To opt in to the national auditor appointment scheme administered by a body designated 
by the Secretary of State as the ‘appointing person’.  The body currently designated for 
this role is PSAA.  

 

1.3. In order to opt in to the national scheme, a council must make a decision at a meeting of the 

Full Council.   

 

1.4. PSAA is now undertaking a procurement for the next appointing period, covering audits for 

2023/24 to 2027/28. All local government bodies need to make important decisions about 

their external audit arrangements from 2023/24. They have options to arrange their own 

procurement and make the appointment themselves or in conjunction with other bodies, or 

they can join and take advantage of the national collective scheme administered by PSAA. 

 

Page 8



1.5. This report concludes that the sector-wide procurement conducted by PSAA will produce 

better outcomes and will be less burdensome for the Council than a procurement 

undertaken locally because: 

• collective procurement reduces costs for the sector and for individual authorities 
compared to a multiplicity of smaller local procurements; 

• if it does not use the national appointment arrangements, the Council will need to 
establish its own auditor panel with an independent chair and independent members to 
oversee a local auditor procurement and ongoing management of an audit contract; 

• it is the best opportunity to secure the appointment of a qualified, registered auditor - 
there are only nine accredited local audit firms, and a local procurement would be 
drawing from the same limited supply of auditor resources as PSAA’s national 
procurement; and 

• supporting the sector-led body offers the best way of to ensuring there is a continuing 
and sustainable public audit market into the medium and long term. 

 
2. The Appointed Auditor  

The auditor appointed at the end of the procurement process will undertake the statutory audit 

of accounts and Best Value assessment of the council in each financial year, in accordance with 
all relevant codes of practice and guidance.  The appointed auditor is also responsible for 
investigating questions raised by electors and has powers and responsibilities in relation to Public 
Interest Reports and statutory recommendations.   

The auditor must act independently of the council and the main purpose of the procurement 
legislation is to ensure that the appointed auditor is sufficiently qualified and independent.  

The auditor must be registered to undertake local audits by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) 
and must employ authorised Key Audit Partners to oversee the work. As the report below sets 
out there is currently a shortage of registered firms and Key Audit Partners.  

Auditors are regulated by the FRC, which will be replaced by a new body with wider powers, the 
Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA) during the course of the next audit contract.  

Councils therefore have very limited influence over the nature of the audit services they are 
procuring, the nature and quality of which are determined or overseen by third parties.  

  
3. Appointment by the council itself or jointly  

The Council may elect to appoint its own external auditor under the Act, which would require 
the council to;  

• Establish an independent auditor panel to make a stand-alone appointment. The auditor 
panel would need to be set up by the Council itself, and the members of the panel must be 
wholly or a majority of independent members as defined by the Act. Independent members 
for this purpose are independent appointees, excluding current and former elected 
members (or officers) and their close families and friends. This means that elected members 

Page 9



will not have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing to which audit firm to award a 
contract for the Council’s external audit.  

• Manage the contract for its duration, overseen by the Auditor Panel.   

Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint auditor 
panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent appointees. 
Further legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a panel having regard 
to the obligations of each Council under the Act and the Council would need to liaise with other 
local authorities to assess the appetite for such an arrangement. 

 
4. The national auditor appointment scheme 

 PSAA is specified as the ‘appointing person’ for principal local government under the 

 provisions of the Act and the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. PSAA let 
 five-year audit services contracts in 2017 for the first appointing period, covering audits of the 
 accounts from 2018/19 to 2022/23. It is now undertaking the work needed to invite eligible 
 bodies to opt in for the next appointing period, from the 2023/24 audit onwards, and to 
 complete a procurement for audit services. PSAA is a not-for-profit organisation whose costs 
 are around 4% of the scheme with any surplus distributed back to scheme members.   

In summary the national opt-in scheme provides the following: 

• the appointment of a suitably qualified audit firm to conduct audits for each of the five 
financial years commencing 1 April 2023; 

• appointing the same auditor to other opted-in bodies that are involved in formal 
collaboration or joint working initiatives to the extent this is possible with other constraints; 

• managing the procurement process to ensure both quality and price criteria are satisfied. 
PSAA has sought views from the sector to help inform its detailed procurement strategy; 

• ensuring suitable independence of the auditors from the bodies they audit and managing any 
potential conflicts as they arise during the appointment period; 

• minimising the scheme management costs and returning any surpluses to scheme members; 

• consulting with authorities on auditor appointments, giving the Council the opportunity to 
influence which auditor is appointed; 

• consulting with authorities on the scale of audit fees and ensuring these reflect scale, 
complexity, and audit risk; and 

• ongoing contract and performance management of the contracts once these have been let. 

 
5. Pressures in the current local audit market and delays in issuing opinions  

Much has changed in the local audit market since audit contracts were last awarded in 2017. 
 At that time the audit market was relatively stable, there had been few changes in audit     
 requirements, and local audit fees had been reducing over a long period. 98% of those bodies 
 eligible opted into the national scheme and attracted very competitive bids from audit firms. 
 The resulting audit contracts took effect from 1 April 2018. 

Page 10



During 2018 a series of financial crises and failures in the private sector led to questioning about 
the role of auditors and the focus and value of their work. Four independent reviews were 

commissioned by Government: Sir John Kingman’s review of the Financial Reporting Council 
(FRC), the audit regulator; the Competition and Markets Authority review of the audit market; 
Sir Donald Brydon’s review of the quality and effectiveness of audit; and Sir Tony Redmond’s 
review of local authority financial reporting and external audit. The recommendations are now 
under consideration by Government, with the clear implication that significant reforms will 
follow. A new audit regulator (ARGA) is to be established, and arrangements for system 
leadership in local audit are to be introduced. Further change will follow as other 
recommendations are implemented. 

 The Kingman review has led to an urgent drive for the FRC to deliver rapid, measurable 
improvements in audit quality. This has created a major pressure for audit firms to ensure full 
compliance with regulatory requirements and expectations in every audit they undertake. By 
the time firms were conducting 2018/19 local audits during 2019, the measures they were 

putting in place to respond to a more focused regulator  were clearly visible. To deliver the 
necessary improvements in audit quality, firms were requiring their audit teams to undertake 
additional work to gain deeper levels of assurance. However, additional work requires more 
time, posing a threat to the firms’ ability to complete all their audits by the target date for 
publication of audited accounts. Delayed opinions are not the only consequence of the FRC’s 
drive to improve audit quality. Additional audit work must also be paid for. As a result, many 
more fee variation claims have been needed than in prior years.  

This situation has been accentuated by growing auditor recruitment and retention challenges, 
the complexity of local government financial statements and increasing levels of technical 
challenges as bodies explore innovative ways of developing new or enhanced income streams to 
help fund services for local people. These challenges have increased in subsequent audit years, 

with Covid-19 creating further significant pressure for finance and audit teams.  

None of these problems is unique to local government audit. Similar challenges have  played out 
in other sectors, where increased fees and disappointing responses to  tender invitations have 
been experienced during the past two years. 

 
6. The invitation 

 

PSAA is now inviting the Council to opt in for the second appointing period, for 2023/24 to 

2027/28, along with all other eligible authorities. Based on the level of opt-ins it will enter into 

contracts with appropriately qualified audit firms and appoint a suitable firm to be the 

Council’s auditor. Details relating to PSAA’s invitation are provided in Appendix A to this report  

 
7. The next audit procurement 

The prices submitted by bidders through the procurement will be the key determinant of the 
value of audit fees paid by opted-in bodies. PSAA will: 

• seek to encourage realistic fee levels and to benefit from the economies of scale 
associated with procuring on behalf of a significant number of bodies; 

• continue to pool scheme costs and charge fees to opted-in bodies in accordance with the 

published fee scale as amended following consultations with scheme members and other 
Page 11



interested parties (pooling means that everyone within the scheme will benefit from the 
prices secured via a competitive procurement process – a key tenet of the national 

collective scheme); 

• continue to minimise its own costs, around 4% of scheme costs, and as a not-for-profit 
company will return any surplus funds to scheme members. In 2019 it returned a total 
£3.5million to relevant bodies and in 2021 a further £5.6million was returned.  

PSAA will seek to encourage market sustainability in its procurement. Firms will be able to bid for 
a variety of differently sized contracts so that they can match their available resources and risk 
appetite to the contract for which they bid. They will be required to meet appropriate quality 
standards and to reflect realistic market prices in their tenders, informed by the scale fees and 
the supporting information provided about each audit. Where regulatory changes are in train 
which affect the amount of audit work suppliers must undertake, firms will be informed as to 
which developments should be priced into their bids.  

The scope of a local audit is fixed. It is determined by the Code of Audit Practice (currently 
published by the National Audit Office)1, the format of the financial statements (specified by 
CIPFA/LASAAC) and the application of auditing standards regulated by the FRC. These factors 
apply to all local audits irrespective of whether an eligible body decides to opt into PSAA’s national 
scheme or chooses to make its own separate arrangements. The requirements are mandatory; 
they shape the work auditors undertake and have a bearing on the actual fees required. 

There are currently nine audit providers eligible to audit local authorities and other relevant 
bodies under local audit legislation. This means that a local procurement exercise would seek 
tenders from the same firms as the national procurement exercise, subject to the need to 
manage any local independence issues. Local firms cannot be invited to bid. Local procurements 

must deliver the same audit scope and requirements as a national procurement, reflecting the 
auditor’s statutory  responsibilities. 

 
8. Assessment of options and officer recommendation  

If the Council did not opt in there would be a need to establish an independent auditor panel to 
make a stand-alone appointment. The auditor panel would need to be set up by the Council 
itself, and the members of the panel must be wholly or a majority of independent members as 
defined by the Act. Independent members for this purpose are independent appointees, 
excluding current and former elected members (or officers) and their close families and friends. 
This means that elected members will not have a majority input to assessing bids and choosing 

to which audit firm to award a contract for the Council/Authority’s external audit.  

Alternatively, the Act enables the Council to join with other authorities to establish a joint 
auditor panel. Again, this will need to be constituted of wholly or a majority of independent 
appointees. Further legal advice would be required on the exact constitution of such a panel 
having regard to the obligations of each Council/Authority under the Act and the Council would 
need to liaise with other local authorities to assess the appetite for such an arrangement. 

These would be more resource-intensive processes to implement for the council, and without 
the bulk buying power of the sector-led procurement would be likely to result in a more costly 
service. It would also be more difficult to manage quality and independence requirements 

                                            
1 MHCLG’s Spring statement proposes that overarching responsibility for Code will in due course transfer to the system leader, namely 
ARGA, the new regulator being established to replace the FRC. Page 12



through a local appointment process. The council is unable to influence the scope of the audit 
and the regulatory regime inhibits the council’s ability to affect quality.  

The Council and its auditor panel would need to maintain ongoing oversight of the contract. 
Local contract management cannot, however, influence the scope or delivery of an audit. 

The national offer provides the appointment of an independent auditor with limited 
administrative cost to the council. By joining the scheme, the council would be acting  with other 
councils to optimise the opportunity to influence the market that a national procurement 
provides.    

The recommended approach is therefore to opt in to the national auditor appointment scheme.   
 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None 

STAFFING 

None 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Section 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a relevant Council to appoint a local 
auditor to audit its accounts for a financial year not later than 31 December in the preceding year.  

Section 8 governs the procedure for appointment including that the Council must consult and take 
account of the advice of its auditor panel on the selection and appointment of a local auditor. Section 

8 provides that where a relevant Council is a local Council operating executive arrangements, the 
function of appointing a local auditor to audit its accounts is not the responsibility of an executive of 
the Council under those arrangements. 

Section 12 makes provision for the failure to appoint a local auditor. The Council must immediately 
inform the Secretary of State, who may direct the Council to appoint the auditor named in the 
direction or appoint a local auditor on behalf of the Council.  

Section 17 gives the Secretary of State the power to make regulations in relation to an ‘appointing 
person’ specified by the Secretary of State.  This power has been exercised in the Local Audit 
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 (SI 192) and this gives the Secretary of State the ability to 
enable a sector-led body to become the appointing person. In July 2016 the Secretary of State 

specified PSAA as the appointing person. 

Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 requires that a decision to 
opt in must be made by a meeting of the Council/Authority (meeting as a whole), except where the 
authority is a corporation sole.  

The Council then needs to respond formally to PSAA’s invitation in the form specified by PSAA by the 
close of the opt-in period (11 March 2022).  

PSAA will commence the formal procurement process in early February 2022. It expects to award 
contracts in August 2022 and will then consult with authorities on the appointment of auditors so 
that it can make appointments by the statutory deadline of 31 December 2022.  
 

Page 13



DATA PROTECTION 

None 

FINANCIAL 

There is a risk that current external audit fee levels could increase when the current contracts end. 
It is clear that the scope of audit has increased, requiring more audit work. There are also concerns 
about capacity and sustainability in the local audit market. 

Opting into a national scheme provides maximum opportunity to ensure fees are as realistic as 
possible, while ensuring the quality of audit is maintained, by entering into a large scale collective 
procurement arrangement. 

If the national scheme is not used some additional resource may be needed to establish an auditor 
panel and conduct a local procurement. Until a procurement exercise is completed it is not possible 

to state what, if any, additional resource may be required for audit fees from 2023/24.  
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

The principal risks are that the Council: 

• fails to appoint an auditor in accordance with the requirements and timing specified in local audit 
legislation; or 

• does not achieve value for money in the appointment process.  

These risks are considered best mitigated by opting into the sector-led approach through PSAA. 
 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

No formal consultation has been undertaken, but the item has been discussed with the Portfolio 

Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & Partnerships and the Governance & Audit committee. 

If the Council wishes to take advantage of the national auditor appointment arrangements, it is 

required under the local audit regulations to make the decision at full Council. The opt-in period 

starts on 22 September 2021 and closes on 11 March 2022. To opt into the national scheme from 

2023/24, the Council needs to return completed opt-in documents to PSAA by 11 March 2022. 

CONTRACTS 

The current PSAA contract is with Mazars and will expire at the end of the 2022/23 audit. 

ACRONYMS 

PSAA – Pubic Sector Auditor Appointments 

FRC - Financial Reporting Council  

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Invitation to become an opted-in authority 

 

Page 14



BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director – Finance 

sknowles@sholland.gov.uk 

Signed off by: Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive 

Corporate Development & S151 Officer 

Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 15

mailto:Christine.Marshall@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appointing Period 2023/24 to 2027/28 
Form of notice of acceptance of the invitation to opt in 

(Please use the details and text below to submit to PSAA your body’s formal notice of 

acceptance of the invitation to opt into the appointing person arrangements from 2023) 

 

 
Email to: ap2@psaa.co.uk 
 
 

Subject: Boston Borough Council 

 Notice of acceptance of the invitation to become an opted-in authority 

 
This email is notice of the acceptance of your invitation dated 22 September 2021 to become 

an opted-in authority for the audit years 2023/2024 to 2027/2028 for the purposes of the 

appointment of our auditor under the provisions of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 and the requirements of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015. 

 

I confirm that Boston Borough Council has made the decision to accept your invitation to 

become an opted-in authority in accordance with the decision making requirements of the 

Regulations, and that I am authorised to sign this notice of acceptance on behalf of the 

authority. 

 

Name: [insert name of signatory] 

Title: [insert role of signatory] (authorised officer) 

For and on behalf of: Boston Borough Council 

Date: [insert date completed] 

 
 

APPENDIX A 

Page 17

mailto:ap2@psaa.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

Audit and Governance Committee: 7th FEBRUARY 2022 
 

REPORT OF JONATHAN NOBLE, FINANCE PORTFOLIO HOLDER  
 

(Authors: Christine Marshall (Deputy Chief Executive Corporate Development) and 
Samantha Knowles (Assistant Director - Finance)) 

 
BUDGET SETTING REPORT AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) 

2022/23 – 2026/27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 2



Page 2 of 32 

 

 

CONTENTS PAGE 
 
SECTION CONTENT PAGE NUMBER 
 Portfolio Holder introduction 3 
1 Executive Summary and Introduction 5 
2 Budget Assumptions 7 
3 Resources 9 
4 Spending Plans 18 
5 Council Tax Requirement 20 
6 Other Budget Issues 21 
7 Reserves 22 
8 Consultation 24 
9 
10 

Savings Targets 
South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Parternship Plans 

25 
26 

11 Risk and Sensitivity 27 
12 Capital Programme 29 
13 Options 32 
14 Reasons for Recommendations 32 
15 Recommendations 32 
 
 
 
Appendices:  

  

1 Summary by Portfolio Area – Overall   
2 Summary by Service Area – Overall    
3 
4 

Corporate Charging Policy 
Fees and Charges 

 

5 Reserve Statement  
6 
 

Capital Strategy – 2022/23 update, including Asset Management Plan and 
Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27 (To be included with Final 
Budget Report) 

 

7    
8 
  
                                                  

Pay Policy (To be included with Final Budget Report) 
Internal Drainage Board commentary (To be included with final Budget Report) 
 
 

 

P
age 20



Page 3 of 32 

 

 

 
 
   
   

FOREWORD TO THE BUDGET FROM COUNCILLOR JONATHAN NOBLE - FINANCE PORTFOLIO HOLDER  
 

The 2022/23 budget and medium term outlook has been produced during a period of continued uncertainty and change and it is 
inevitable that the financial and service delivery challenges that have faced councils for the last few years will continue for some time. 
 
The Chancellor’s 2021 Spending Review in October set out the Government’s overall public sector spending plans for the year 
2022/23 and it is anticpated that the governments ongoing response to the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent recovery will 
continue to present challenges to the public purse and therefore to wider local authority finances as a whole. 
 
Using the Government’s figures, the real change in Boston’s Core Spending Power across the five years to 2020/21 was over 20%, 
with grant reductions well in excess of this. This meant that the Council’s focus has been on finding savings in a period of austerity 
and almost £3m of net budget reductions have been achieved since 2011, enabling annual balanced budgets to be set and delivered. 
 
Despite this the council has been proactive in its response to these pressures and the pandemic, firstly with the decision to become 
a shareholder in Public Sector Partnership Services Limited (PSPS) in April 2021, agreeing the transfer of services such as Human 
Resources, Revenues and Benefits and Financial Services to PSPS with a view to achieving savings over the next five years.  In 
addition to this the decision to form the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership alongside South Holland and East Lindsey 
District Councils in October 2021 also demonstrates the councils continued commitment to it’s partners across the county with the  
partnership using the combined expertise of officers and members across three councils to maintain and improve services for its 
residents along with ambition to save £42m over a ten year period across the three councils 
 
This year the council was also at the forefront of the response to the COVID-19 Pandemic supporting businesses and residents 
across the borough through the passporting over £30m of grants and support.  During this period the council has also received 
government support totalling £2m to help alleviate some of the additional pressures felt during the pandemic including a reduction in 
Councils income from certain services such as Leisure, Parking, Planning, Building Control and Bereavement Services 
 
Despite this over the coming years the Council will support a number major developments within the Borough, with £21m from the 
Government’s Towns Fund to develop an innovative regeneration plan for the town, ongoing positive new house building numbers, 
progress with the Quadrant development and release of Housing Infrastructure Fund monies. 
 

P
age 21



Page 4 of 32 

 

 

The financial regime following the conclusion of the goverments Spending Review, will determine the Council’s future financial 
landscape and constraints and opportunities in the coming years. The recent closure of large local businesses highlights the 
difficulties that the economy faces, whilst the changing way that people shop is impacting on the viability of town centres across the 
country. These changes mean that there are potentially significant risks to future funding levels, which will require careful 
management and planning. The challenge of delivering balanced budgets will therefore remain a key issue going forward. 
 
In support of this the overall finances and risk management processes of the Council are robust, and alongside the annual budget, 
the quarterly performance reporting process will provide updates on the impacts experienced as things become clearer. 
 
In 2022/23 a budget is proposed that allows expenditure to be financed though the use of reserves in order to smooth the impact of 
the councils ongoing pressure, however savings are required going forward as a result of slowing business rates growth and the 
ending of the New Homes Bonus. This means that the Council can continue to provide services whilst also supporting its overall 
objectives. The Council will continue to strive to be as efficient as possible in all its work, building on the South and East Lincolnshire 
Council’s Partnership with its partners at East Lindsey and South District Councils and PSPS, whilst ensuring it maximises the income 
it receives. 
 
In order to deliver its statutory budgetary duty from 2022/23 and develop proposals for a financially secure medium term, the Council 
will continue to seek innovative opportunities as it has done over the past twelve months to achieve the anticipated budget reductions 
necessary to deliver balanced budgets each year without adversely affecting service delivery and compromising its priorities.  
 
The budget for 2022/23 proposes an increase in Boston Borough Council’s council tax of £4.95 for the year, representing an increase 
of 2.50%.  This budget is designed to meet the Council’s challenges and responsibilities, and ensure that the best possible services 
continue to be provided to Boston’s residents, businesses and visitors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 22



Page 5 of 32 

 

 

 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
 

 2021/22 2022/23 

Boston Borough Council Precept £3,883,331 £4,067,546 

Council Tax Increase 2.57% 2.50% 

Council Tax Band D £197.91 £202.86 

Government Funding (RSG, Specific Grants and NHB) £3,324,817 £3,198,914 

Boston Town Area Committee Special Expense Account 
(3.28% increase proposed) * 

£716,192 £739,660 

Earmarked Reserves (at 1 April) £12.589m £16.890m 

 
   

 
  
 

P
age 23



Page 6 of 32 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This report outlines the 2022/23 revenue and capital position for the General Fund and proposals for the setting of discretionary 
fees and charges. The purpose of the report is to ask Members to recommend the 2022/23 estimates (along with associated 
Policies and Strategies) and council tax level to the Council for formal approval, and for Members to be advised on the projected 
financial position through to 2026/27. 

 
1.2 The Local Government Act 2003 introduced a requirement for the Statutory S151 Officer to report on the robustness of the 

budget. The estimates have been prepared in a prudent manner, although it should be recognised that there are a number of 
elements outside of the Council’s control. Assessing the projected 2021/22 outturn position informs the reliance we can place 
on the baseline we use for setting the 2022/23 estimates.  Current projections show that the outturn for 2021/22 will be broadly 
in line with the budget, mainly as a result of several tranches of funding that have been given to authorities during the year in 
compensation for COVID-19 related lost income and spending pressures.  Key risks have been identified in section 10 of this 
report and will be mitigated through the regular budget monitoring and risk management processes in place at the Council. 

 
1.3 This year’s Medium Term Financial Strategy is set at a time of continuing significant uncertainty, change and financial 

challenges for local government. Aside from COVID-19 related pressures, there are issues such as welfare reform, uncertainty 
around Government funding reductions and responding to reductions in Central Government funding, (with a greater emphasis 
on business and housing growth).   

 
1.4 There are also significant changes affecting business rates. Some have already been introduced, such as the part-localisation 

of the regime from April 2013 and the 2017 revaluation exercise and others, such as the proposal to further devolve business 
rate incomes to councils are yet to come into full effect. Their impacts include the financial effect of growth or contraction in 
the local rateable value on the Council’s resource base, and increased uncertainties surrounding the extent of appeals and 
the ability to accurately forecast income into the future. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 24



Page 7 of 32 

 

 

2. BUDGET ASSUMPTIONS 
 
 Table 1 – Assumptions which influence the five year financial strategy 
 

Assumption 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Budgeted inflation1 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

Pay costs increase 2 1% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 

Full Time Equivalent Employees 3 262.7 234.99 223.62 222.62 221.78 221.78 

Pension contribution rate – current 
service cost 4 

17.7% 17.7% 17.7% 17.7% 17.7% 17.7% 

Pension contribution rate – lump 
sum element 4 

£670,000 £745,000 £828,000 £921,000 £1,024,000 £1,137,000 

Return on cash investments 0.35% 0.10% 0.30% 0.50% 0.70% 0.90% 

Return on property funds  3.60% 3.60% 3.70% 3.70% 3.80% 3.80% 

Staffing levels 99% 99% 99% 99% 99% 99% 

Tax base 5 19,621.7 20,051 20,252 20,454 20,659 20,865 

Fuel cost rises1 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 

 
1. 0% used except for utilities/fuel where an average of  5% per annum has been used, reflecting the price risk for these areas 

and also taking into account any gains from both climate change and transformational activity by the Council which are 
likely to lead to reduced consumption. 

 
2. A flat 2% increase has been included from 2022/23 onwards. 
 
3. It is recognised that some future savings could potentially further affect staffing numbers in future years. Until business 

cases are worked-up it is not possible to make further assumptions on any changes.  
 

4. The pension contribution rate is based on a current service cost employer’s contribution rate of 17.7% from 2022/23, plus 
annual monetary contributions in respect of past service.  However a triennial review of the Lincolnshire Pension fund (of 
which the council is a member) is due to take place in 2022/23 

 
5. The tax base used for Council Tax setting is calculated as prescribed by statute, with responsibility for the setting of the 

tax base delegated to the Council’s Section 151 Officer.  The tax base for 2022/23 is 20,051 and for estimation purposes 
has been increased by 1% per annum thereafter. This may increase if the recent number of planning applications deliver 

P
age 25



Page 8 of 32 

 

 

additional Band D equivalent properties above the assumption, and will be reflected in the annual budget figures as 
appropriate. 

P
age 26



Page 9 of 32 

 

 

3. RESOURCES  
 

 Business Rates Retention 
 
3.1 Table 2 details the Council’s retained business rates for 2022/23, based on the provisional local government settlement. 
 
3.2 Under the current part localisation regime, where the Council collects more business rates than the baseline set by Central 

Government, a levy of 50% is applied and paid to Central government.  A way to avoid this levy to Central Government is to 
pool business rates with a County Council, and, as in most years since 2016/17, Boston has entered into a voluntary pooling 
arrangement for 2022/23 with Lincolnshire County Council and some of the District Councils in the area (in 2018/19, the 
Council was part of a successful bid across the county to be a pilot for 100% localisation). 

 
3.3 The Government  concluded it’s review of business rates which were published alongside the Chancellor’s budget statement.  

The aim of the review was to reduce the burden of business rates in England, support investment, and make the system more 
responsive.  Following the review the government have confirmed the following:-: 

 

• A freeze on the business rates multiplier for a second year, from 1 April 2022 until 31 March 2023, keeping the multipliers 
at 49.9p and 51.2p  

• Introduce a new temporary business rates relief for eligible retail, hospitality and leisure properties for 2022-23. Eligible 
properties will receive 50% relief, up to a £110,000 per business cap  

• Introduce a 100% improvement relief for business rates. This will provide 12 months relief from higher bills for occupiers 
where eligible improvements to an existing property increase the rateable value. The government will consult on how 
best to implement this relief, which will take effect in 2023 and be reviewed in 2028  

• Introduce from 1 April 2023 until 31 March 2035 targeted business rate exemptions for eligible plant and machinery 
used in onsite renewable energy generation and storage, and a 100% relief for eligible heat networks, to support the 
decarbonisation of non-domestic buildings  

• Increase the frequency of business rates revaluations so that they take place every 3 years instead of every 5 years, 
starting in 2023  

• Provide additional funding to the Valuation Office Agency to support the delivery of the new revaluation cycle.  

• Extend transitional relief for small and medium-sized businesses, and the supporting small business scheme, for 1 year. 
This will restrict bill increases to 15% for small properties (up to a rateable value of £20,000) and 25% for medium 
properties  (up to a rateable value of £100,000), subject to subsidy control limits 

 

P
age 27



Page 10 of 32 

 

 

3.4 The Council remains aware of the issues surrounding business rate appeals and this will be under continuous management 
by officers with the emphasis on making sure there is a reasonable and prudent provision made for successful appeals.  

 

 
Table 2 – Business Rates 
 

  
 

Draft Draft Draft Draft Draft 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Retained Business Rates  7,822 7,333 7,480 7,629 7,782 7,937 

Tariff (5,141) (5,141) (5,456) (5,565) (5,676) (5,790) 

Pre Levy Income 2,681 2,192 2,024 2,064 2,106 2,147 

Renewable Energy (100% retained by Boston BC) 158 208 208 212 216            219 

Less net levy payment to Lincolnshire Pool (61) (177) (181) (184) (188) (192) 

Levy Account Surplus – Settlement Data - - - - - - 

Estimated Business Rates (Deficit) / Surplus  (1,452) (2,913) - - - - 

Equals Net Retained Business Rates Income 1,327 (690) 2,051 2,092 2,134 2,174 

 
3.5 The estimated business rates deficit for 2022/23 in Table 2 is due mainly to the to the COVID-19 pandemic which has seen 

unprecedented support to business from central government in the form of business rate reliefs, these are funded from monies 
received from central government in 2020/21 and 2021/22 and now released from reserves. Many businesses will not re-
emerge from the periods of lockdown causing a further loss in income, however the full impact of this is still inderterminate.  

 
3.6 The majority of Government support of business ceased in September 2021/22 with the closure of the majority of its support 

to businesses  including the furlough scheme. Compensation for continued Rate Reliefs and income loss are made through 
Section 31 grants and are dealt with in the General Fund 

 
 
 
 

P
age 28



Page 11 of 32 

 

 

Council Tax 
 
3.7 Since 2013/14, the Council has revised its exemptions and discounts for Council Tax to recover the reduced funding as part 

of the Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme, and on 17 January 2022 the Council approved its CTS scheme for 2022/23.  
 
3.8 The Council Tax element of the Collection Fund has been calculated based on the 2021/22 scheme, leaving a budget neutral 

position. This will be reviewed throughout the year, and collection rates assessed. The MTFS assumes an increase in the 
Borough’s council tax of 2.50% for 2022/23.  

 
 Table 3 – Council Tax 
   

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
       

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

No. Of 
properties 

Council Tax base (Band D 
equivalents) 

19,621.7 20,051 20,252 20,454 20,659 20,865 

  
     

Council Tax Band D 197.91 202.86 207.81 212.76 217.71 222.66 

Annual Increase £ 4.95 4.95 4.95 4.95 4.95 4.95 

Annual Increase % 2.57 2.50% 2.44% 2.38% 2.33% 2.27% 

Gross Council Tax collected  £3,883,331 £4,067,546 £4,208,466 £4,351,798 £4,497,576 £4,645,835 

In year Surplus / (deficit)  (16,328) 86,654 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL £3,867,003 £4,154,200 £4,208,466 £4,351,798 £4,497,576 £4,645,835 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 29



Page 12 of 32 

 

 

Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Section 31 Grants 
 
 Table 4 – RSG and Section 31 Grants 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Revenue Support Grant 313 323 323 323 323 323 

Rural Services Delivery Grant 89 89 89 89 89 89 

Deficit Compensation Estimate 1,377 0 0 0 0 0 

Settlement Funding Assessment 141 0 0 0 0 0 

Lower Tier Services Grant 115 121 0 0 0 0 

Services Grant 2022/23 0 186 0 0 0 0 

S31 NNDR reliefs including SBRR 600 1,783 1,080 1,080 1,080 1,080 

Total Received 2,635 2,502 1,492 1,492 1,492 1,492 

 
3.9 Following the announcement of four year figures in 2016/17, significant reductions of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) have 

occurred in recent years, and from 2022/23 it has been held at present levels awaiting the outcome of future local government 
finance settlements. 

 
3.10 As part of the plans for further local retention of business rates, S31 relief grant held at the same level for 2023/24 onwards. 
 
 
3.11 The Government has continued to recognise the additional costs of providing services in rural areas, with affected councils 

receiving amounts of Rural Services Delivery Grant which has been held as the same level over the period to 2026/27. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 30



Page 13 of 32 

 

 

New Homes Bonus 
 
3.12 There were new 2022/23 New Homes Bonus (NHB) allocations announced as part of the Local Government Finance 

Settlement for 2022/23 only as far as we are aware. The government has added a year of additional grant. As previously 
announced, the 2021/22 “in year” allocations will not have future years legacy payments nor has the 2022/23 allocation. If the 
scheme was to be continued in its current form next years payment would reflect just the growth in the previous year. 

 
3.13 The values in Table 5 for 2022/23 to 2026/27 are indicative and subject to future consultation and changes to the scheme 

(plus the level of local growth). 
 

Table 5 – New Homes Bonus estimates  
 

  
Boston BC share 

 
Draft Draft Draft Draft Draft 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

TOTAL 690 697 0 0 0 0 

 
 
3.14 The MTFS assumes that 50% of NHB payments will be transferred into the Capital reserve in 2022/23, with the remaining 

balance used to support the Council’s revenue budget.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 31



Page 14 of 32 

 

 

 

Fees and Charges 
 
3.15 Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue for the Council, representing almost 15% of the gross income 

budgeted in 2022/23. Charges have a central role to play in service delivery, raising income, controlling access, responding to 
competition, funding investment and affecting behaviour. 

 
3.16 The fees and charges charged in 2021/22 are shown at  
 
https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/s11824/Appendix%204%20-%20Fees%20Charges%202021-22.pdf 
            
 
3.17 Fees and charges are set within the framework of the Corporate Charging Policy, which is attached at Appendix 3 (to be 

included with final budget papers).   
 
3.18 As part of the broader moves to commercialisation across the Council, in line with many other authorities as they respond to 

the increasing challenges of diminishing resources, it is recognised that, in accordance with the Corporate Charging Policy,   
in-year variances to the approved fees and charges on a trial basis, within the approved budget framework, can be made. Any 
such changes will then be reported in the next quarterly monitoring report.  

 
3.19 Appendix 4 shows the proposed fees and charges to be charged from 1 April 2022. Once these changes have been approved 

the full list of Council fees and charges applicable for 2022/23 will be published on the Council’s website. 
 
3.20 The following table shows the main income budgets from fees and charges for Boston, before any consideration of possible 

increases beyond 2022/23 as part of balancing net budget and resources in those years.  At this time assumptions for the 
majority of these areas are that income levels will not increase within the period of the MTFS, and this will be revisited as part 
of the annual Budget and Strategy refresh. Given the scale of savings required in the coming years, it is likely that future years 
will see rises in some fee areas. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 32



Page 15 of 32 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Table 6 – Fees and charges income budgets 
 
 

Budget Area 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Leisure income 918 695 832 879 879 879 

Building control 170 170 170 170 170 170 

Licensing 131 131 131 131 131 131 

Land charges 78 78 64 64 64 64 

Bereavement 896 898 925 951 973 997 

Garden Waste 574 574 584 591 591 591 

Trade waste 314 355 366 377 388 400 

Planning fees 566 579 591 598 601 601 

Parking 1,019 968 1,019 1,019 1,019 1,019 

Markets 80 80 80 80 80 80 

Other small areas 206 219 212 207 210 211 

TOTAL FEE INCOME 4,952 4,747 4,974 5,067 5,106 5,143 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 33



Page 16 of 32 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Other Income 
 
3.21 The Council also receives a number of other forms of income, and these are shown in the following table: 
 
Table 7 – Other Income 
 

  2021/22* 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Housing benefit subsidy 13,050 11,738 11,738 11,738 11,738 11,738 

Council tax and Housing benefit administration 
grant 304 

 
285 

 
282 

 
282 

 
282 

 
282 

Specific government grants 179 531 133 132 131 131 

Housing benefit overpayments 120 120 120 120 120 120 

Court income 251 251 251 251 251 251 

Rental income 593 696 696 695 695 695 

NNDR admin grant 92 92 92 92 92 92 

Other Contributions (from external bodies for 
sharing of services and posts) 1,172 

 
1,332 

 
1,283 

 
1,315 

 
1,346 

 
1,378 

Other Income 996 888 860 1,005 980 878 

Total Other Income 16,757 15,933 15,455 15,630     15,635 15,565 

 
 
* Housing benefit subsidy has reduced following the initial introduction of Universal Credit locally. Future phases have not been 
factored into budgets as their timing and impact are uncertain. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 34



Page 17 of 32 

 

 

External Funding opportunities 
 
3.22 With the continuing reduction in resources available to the Council it will be important to seek and secure funds from external 

sources wherever possible, in accordance with the Council’s priorities.  
 
Summary  
 
Table 8 – All sources of income 
 

Budget Area 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Business rates (Table 2) 1,326 (690) 2,051 2,092 2,134 2,174 

Revenue Support Grant (Table 4) 313 323 323 323 323 323 

Deficit Compensation Estimate 1,377 0 0 0 0 0 

Other Grants  945 2,179 1,169 1,169 1,169 1,169 

New Homes Bonus (Table 5) 690 697 0 0 0 0 

Total Government Resources 4,651 2,509 3,543 3,584 3,626 3,666 

Council tax – Boston BC precept, including 
Collection Fund adjustment (Table 3) 3,867 4,154 4,208 4,352 4,498 4,646 

BTAC Special Area Expense 716 740 762 784 808 832 

Parish Councils’ Precepts 459 473 478 483 488 493 

Fees & charges (Table 6) 4,953 4,747 4,974 5,067 5,106 5,143 

Other income (Table 7) 16,757 15,933 15,455 15,630     15,635 15,565 

Return on Cash Investments 39 32 46 64 90 108 

Return on Property Funds 977 977 977 977 977 977 

Contribution from Reserves 1,922 5,469 1,296 212 118 118 

Gross budgeted income 34,341 35,034 31,739 31,153 31,346 31,548 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 35



Page 18 of 32 

 

 

4. 2020/21 SPENDING PLANS 
 
4.1 The following table shows the estimates by type of expenditure/income split over the CIPFA standard classification for the next 

five years. The paragraphs below the table provide information on budget variances between years. Details of the overall 
position are shown at Appendices 1 and 2. 

 
 Table 9 – Estimates by expenditure/income  
 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Employees 9,947 9,644 9,646 9,932 10,244 10,335 

Premises 1,310 1,400 1,420 1,440 1,464 1,477 

Transport 663 335 350 365 382 399 

Supplies and Services 3,897 6,880 6,468 6,579 6,662 6,306 

Third Party Payments 157 159 161 163 109 109 

Drainage Board Levies  2,009 2,175 2,218 2,263 2,308 2,354 

Parish Councils’ Precepts 459 473 478 483 488 493 

Transfer Payments 13,050 11,738 11,738 11,738 11,738 11,738 

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 1,088 1,888 1,176 194 100 100 

Interest Payable on Borrowing 494 494 494 494 494 494 

Minimum Revenue Provision 15 15 15 15 15 15 

Contribution to Reserves 1,152 865 451 447 446 444 

PSPS Decision Financial Cost/(Savings) 100 - - - - - 

Savings Target - (1,032) (2,876) (2,960) (3,104) (2,716) 

Gross Expenditure 34,341 35,034 31,739 31,153 31,346 31,548 

 
4.2 All staffing costs have been prepared in accordance with the Council’s Pay Policy as detailed in Appendix 7.  The pension 

contribution rate is based on a current service cost employer’s contribution rate of 17.7% from 2022/23, plus annual monetary 
contributions in respect of past service.  However a triennial review of the Lincolnshire Pension fund (of which the council is a 
member) is due to take place in 2022/23 

 
 

P
age 36



Page 19 of 32 

 

 

4.3 Internal Drainage Board (IDB) increases, in total average 8% for 2022/23. Post 2022/23 increases have been estimated at this 
time, with an increase of 2% p.a. assumed. At a time of significant cuts and having to find significant savings annually, the 
Council is liaising with the local Internal Drainage Boards to work towards limiting future increases where possible.  

 
4.4 Capital financing and direct revenue financing is mainly for capital expenditure funded from reserve contributions. 
 
4.5 The contribution to reserves is mainly for contributions to the capital reserve from New Homes Bonus funding and Property 

Fund Net Interest. The overall contribution is anticipated to reduce significantly across the MTFS period due to the New Homes 
Bonus scheme ending.  

 
 
 
 
 
 P

age 37



Page 20 of 32 

 

 

5. COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT 
 
5.1 Outline estimates through to 2026/27 are shown at Appendices 1 and 2. In compiling these figures we have used the 

assumptions set out in Section 2 of this report and made specific adjustments to service budgets as and where Service 
Managers have advised of changes over the medium term. These forward estimates allow for annual increases of £4.95 at 
Band D from 2022/23 onwards for Council Tax, but are subject to risks surrounding the Secretary of State’s annual referendum 
limits.  These assumptions are for planning purposes only and are likely to change.  

 
Table 10 – Council Tax Requirement  
 

  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Net Expenditure 9,693 7,876 8,991 9,203 9,420 9,637 

Retained Business Rates (1,326) 690 (2,051) (2,092) (2,134) (2,174) 

Revenue Support Grant (313) (323) (323) (323) (323) (323) 

New Homes Bonus  (690) (697) - - - - 

Parish Councils’ Precepts (459) (473) (478) (483) (488) (493) 

Other Grants (2,322) (2,179) (1,169) (1,169) (1,169) (1,169) 

Special Expenses  (716) (740) (762) (784) (808) (832) 

Boston BC Council Tax Requirement 3,867 4,154 4,208 4,352 4,498 4,646 

 
5.2 The forward estimates demonstrate that achieving a balanced position annually will require significant ongoing savings. Further 

information on efficiencies and economies is provided in section 9 of this report. 
 

5.3 Members will recall that as part of the Strategic Alliance a savings target had been built into the MTFS. Following a number of 
initiatives savings of circa £500,000 have now been achieved in 2021/22, prior to the creation of the new SELCP. With this 
change in partnership arrangements a new delivery plan has been developed for the forthcoming year 2022/23 and future 
years in which it sets out the significant areas of opportunity. In addition and to not lose focus on 2021/22 we are also now 
capturing direct and indirect savings for the new partnership through regular reviews and this work will be reported on as part 
of the quarterly budget monitoring and at year end.  
 

 

P
age 38



Page 21 of 32 

 

 

6. OTHER BUDGET ISSUES 
 
6.1 In order to meet its obligations, equality impact assessments will be carried out when the nature of proposed changes to 

services and the potential mitigation (if any) is clear, so that the implications of decisions are fully understood as they affect 
specific groups and communities. These have been, and will continue to be, regularly undertaken and considered as part of 
the decision making process.  

 
6.2 Cabinet members are also asked to note the budget proposals for the Boston Town Area Committee are yet to be discussed. 

These are due to be discussed during January 2022 and so the current value is that which was included in the previous MTFS.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 39



Page 22 of 32 

 

 

7. RESERVES  
 
7.1 To comply with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the Council must undertake a review of the level of 

reserves as part of annual budget preparation. A review of the current projection for reserves has been undertaken, including 
a review of current and future risks the Council might face. This has included an assessment of risk registers, pressures upon 
services, inflation and interest rates and any underwriting arrangements. The proposed budget has been developed on the 
basis of not requiring any long term support from reserves.   

 
General Balances 
 
7.2 The General Fund balance is estimated to stand at £2.0m for the next five years, which the Council’s Section 151 Officer 

believes to be prudent for the Council at this time. 
 
Specific Reserves 
 
7.3 Specific reserves are set up to provide funds for known future commitments or provide resources for unexpected events. The 

projected closing balance on specific reserves over the next five years is given below in table 11. Given the risks and 
uncertainties facing both the local and national economy the Council is committed to retaining robust levels of reserves, whilst 
ensuring resources are available to enable efficient service delivery.  

 
7.4 The projected increase in the Capital Reserve is as a direct consequence of the expectation that the Council’s capital resources 

will diminish in the coming years, and if it is to protect services and the value of its assets, the Council will need to ensure that 
funds are available to support core service priorities, as well as seeking external sources wherever possible. 

 
7.5 The creation of the Mitigation Reserve occurred following the approval of capital spend on Property Fund holdings, with the 

recognition that the Council needs to ensure that future revenue budgets are protected, if necessary. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40



Page 23 of 32 

 

 

 
Table 11 – Specific Reserves  

 

Reserve Estimated 
Balance 
31.03.22 

£’000 

Balance 
31.03.23 

£’000 

Balance 
31.03.24 

£’000 

Balance 
31.03.25 

£’000 

Balance 
31.03.26 

£’000 

Balance 
31.03.27 

£’000 

Capital Funding  (5,625) (4,515) (3,688) (3,917) (4,146) (4,375) 

Transformation  (1,046) (1,048) (1,048) (1,048) (1,048) (1,048) 

ICT  (226) (156) (136) (42) (42) (42) 

Repairs and Renewals  (752) (787) (823) (858) (893) (928) 

Housing (1,473) (1,424) (1,391) (1,456) (1,521) (1,583) 

Funding Volatility Reserve (4,950) (2,038) (2,038) (2,038) (2,038) (2,038) 

Insurance (254) (254) (254) (254) (254) (254) 

Property Fund Mitigation 
Reserve 

(1,116) (1,116) (1,116) (1,116) (1,116) 

 
(1,116) 

 

Covid 19 (1,448) (948) (948) (948) (948) (948) 

Total (16,890) (12,286) (11,442) (11,677) (12,006) (12,332) 

 
7.6 Table 11 above outline the projected position on reserves over the next five years. This shows the name of each specific 

reserve, the balance as at the 1 April for each year of the financial strategy, and the movements in capital and revenue.  
 
7.7 There are a number of potential capital commitments and risks such as ongoing investment in assets and energy efficiency 

measures, the majority of which have not been included in the capital programme at this point. A condition survey of the 
Council’s assets will be undertaken during 2021/22 to inform future capital spend. Proposals will be brought forward annually 
as schemes are worked up.  

 
7.8  The Government has been critical of Councils across the country and their levels of reserves. However, given strategic risks, 

such as business rate appeals and flooding, and uncertainties in respect of the amount of resources to meet future spending 
plans, we believe that Boston Borough Council’s proposed level of reserves is appropriate. 

P
age 41



Page 24 of 32 

 

 

8. CONSULTATION 
 
8.1 Under the Gunning Principles, the following points are the golden rules of consultation: 

• Proposals being consulted upon must be at a formative stage; 

• Proposals must contain enough information for the respondent to provide intelligent consideration; 

• Must give adequate time for a response; 

• Responses must be conscientiously taken into account. 
 
8.2 Using these principles, the budget consultation process for the 2022/23 budget comprises a number of elements. It will be  

published on the Council’s website for consultation by all stakeholders, including the local business community. 
 
8.3 In addition to this we consult through a number of Member forums including Cabinet and Scrutiny; and on the governance 

aspects of its preparation through the Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
8.4 Following the budget consultation process, comments received through the Member forums, preceptors and the public 

exercise will be taken into account in preparing and recommending the proposed budget for Cabinet review and formal Council 
approval on 23 February and 28 February 2022 respectively. 

 
            
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 42



Page 25 of 32 

 

 

9. SAVINGS TARGETS 
 

9.1 The projected budgets recognise an increasingly challenging and uncertain position through the five year period of our financial 
strategy. A key factor is that the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and future finance reviews demand a significant 
transformation in the way public services are both paid for and provided, with an emphasis on business and housing growth 
to both improve economic development and maximise funding to the Council to help offset ongoing reductions in overall 
resources.  

 
9.2 Based upon current budget assumptions the value of cashable savings required to set a balanced budget for the next five 

years are as follows: 
 

 
Table 12 – Savings Targets  
 

 2022/23* 
£000 

2023/24* 
£000 

2024/25* 
£000 

2025/26* 
£000 

2026/27* 
£000 

Budget Savings Requirement (£’000) – cumulative 1,032 3,908 6,868 9,972 12,688 

Budget Savings Requirement (£’000) – annual 1,032 2,876 2,960 3,104 2,716 

 
 
 
9.3 The ongoing delivery of a significant level of savings is recognised as a key challenge to the Council that will require both 

political and cultural direction to ensure it is met. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 43



Page 26 of 32 

 

 

10. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP PLANS  

  

10.1 As we think of 2023/24 there is great uncertainty with the central funding which could be allocated to Boston. This is driven 
by several financial matters which remain unresolved such as the implications of the Fairer Funding Review, Business Rates 
baseline reset and a review of the Business Rates retention scheme. It should therefore be noted the Councils assumptions 
on future budget gaps whilst prudent could well be understated. 
 

10.2.1 The Council is taking a positive response to this uncertainty by seeking to influence those matters raised above through both 
engagement and lobbying to ensure a fair deal is delivered for rural communities. 

 
10.2.2 As we look forward into 2022/23 Cabinet will be promoting projects which aim to drive commercial opportunities, place the customer at 

the centre of everything we do and achieve as much as is possible through greater collaboration through the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. Some of these key projects to be developed during 2022/23 include; 

 

• Realising efficiencies working together with East Lindsey District Council and South Holland District Council through 

the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

• Investment in infrastructure and facilities through the Towns Fund 

• A Council service modernisation programme 

• Building the case for investment in infrastructure 

• Empowering communities in the way services are provided 

• Commercialisation of services 

• Addressing Deprivation in the area 

• Tackling Climate Change through the Green Homes Initiative 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 44



Page 27 of 32 

 

 

 
 
11. RISK AND SENSITIVITY 
 
 
11.1 The Council is required to set a budget, which is a realistic statement of its estimated Income and Expenditure for the coming 

year based upon information currently available to it. It has a duty to take into account the demand for its services, and the 
effect upon council taxpayers of meeting those demands at varying levels of service. I have examined the budget proposals 
contained in this report, and believe that whilst the spending and service delivery proposals contained within are tighter than 
we have previously set, they are nevertheless achievable and deliverable given good management practices and sound 
financial and performance monitoring. I am satisfied that the requisite management processes exist within the Council to 
deliver this budget, and to identify and deal with any problems which may unexpectedly arise throughout the year.  We fully 
expect there to be a need to review these budgets throughout the coming financial year in order that we can respond to as yet 
undefined financial risks.  As an organisation we recognise a period of budgetary turbulence and we will use our financial 
management processes to identify options that will allow us to adjust our budgetary position as and when required. Formal 
quarterly budget monitoring updates are presented to members throughout the year. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 45



Page 28 of 32 

 

 

11.2 Table 13 – Key Risks  

  

Risk Likelihood Impact Action 

Ongoing and continued COVID-19 
Response 

High High Regular financial monitoring, use of reserves, 
promoting growth plans and supporting the 
community 

Drainage Board Levy Increases High High Lobbying Government 

Contract Cost volatility High High To seek to pre-purchase were necessary 

Fluctuation in business rates High High Growth plans and accurate monitoring 

Lack of funding to partners causing 
displacement of service demand 

High High Engagement and realism 

Inadequate capital resources to finance 
future desired plans 

High High Proportionate spending and sale of surplus assets 

Central Government policy changes High High Engagement in consultation and policy creation 

Fairer Funding and Business Rate 
reset/changes 

High High To lobby as required 

VAT – partial exemption High High Close forecasting VAT partial exemption position 

Reductions in NHB impacting on future 
plans 

High High Lobbying and service transformation 

Reduction in Investment Values Medium Medium Regular Monitoring, allocation of specific Reserve 

Uncertainty re: Brexit impact Medium Medium Growth plans and accurate monitoring 

A poor settlement for rural councils Medium High Lobbying as a special interest group 

Fee income volatility Medium Medium Early monitoring of deviations 

Increased demand for services Medium Medium A robust performance management framework 

Failure to deliver the required savings  Low High Effective programme and project management 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 46



Page 29 of 32 

 

 

12.  CAPITAL PROGRAMME  
 
12.1 In drawing together the proposed capital programme we have taken a five year view from 2022/23 to 2026/27, to run alongside 

our revenue plans. This is sensible and encourages a link between revenue and capital spending decisions. 
 
12.2 It is important to emphasise that no scheme will appear on the Capital Programme until the criteria set out in the capital strategy 

have been met and agreed by committees of the Council.  Members may well be aware of several potential projects which are 
not included in the proposed five year capital programme. This is not to say that they will not happen but that they will not be 
included until an affordable business case is approved and more information is available. We will have a programme which is 
likely to have further schemes added once aspirations are turned into robust projects. The decisions that are taken ultimately 
have to be affordable, prudent and sustainable for the local community. 

 
12.3 The future for capital investment, funded from both the Council’s resources and external resources, will be dependent on 

decisions taken as part of each year’s budget process. Our capital resources have been substantially eroded over time and 
we aim to take money from revenue to ensure that statutory commitments can continue to be met. This will demand a greater 
role for the Council’s Asset Management Plan to ensure that future liabilities are reduced and that capital receipts are 
maximised.  

 
12.4 The proposed capital programme (including details of anticipated slippage in the 2021/22 capital programme) for 2022/23 to 

2026/27 is shown in table 14 along with how the programme will be financed. It should be noted that some risk exists with 
capping the finance available for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) works as this is a statutory provision dictated by law based 
on need rather than the ability of the Council to provide the funds to carry out the works, and as such it is subject to ongoing 
review.   

  
12.5 Following the publication of CIPFA’s review and MHCLG guidance on the Prudential System (which guides and regulates 

councils’ capital and investment strategies), during 2018/19 the Council made use of external borrowing to support the 
Council’s long term Capital Strategy, by purchasing capital Property Fund units. The intention is to bring a number of benefits 
to the Council over the medium to long term, including yield, growth in future capital resources, statutory service resilience and 
historically low interest rate finance. This is subject to regular monitoring and is primarily overseen by the Audit and Governance 
Committee.  

 
12.7 In addition, Boston was chosen by the Government as one of 101 towns and received funding to support growth initiatives for 

the town over the coming years. As projects are worked up by the Town Board and approved by the Government, the Council’s 
capital programme will be amended accordingly. 

 

P
age 47



Page 30 of 32 

 

 

12.8 The proposed capital programme is affordable, meets the Council’s obligations and provides a basis for growth.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 14 – Capital Programme  
 

 Capital Programme £’000 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

1. Disabled Facilities Grants 280 280 280 280 280 

  2.  Vehicle Replacement Programme       

              Grounds Maintenance Mowers 80 - - - - 
              Ford Transit Vans 290, 300 & 1.5tdci  
              Courier 60 - - - - 

              Ford Ranger 2.5 25 - - - - 

              Ford Transit Tipper Vans 350 50 56 - - - 

  3.  Town Centre Heritage Scheme 42 - - - - 

  4.  Information Technology Refresh 170 120 194 100 100 

  5.  Towns Fund – Leisure 2,935 1,990 - - - 

  6.  Towns Fund – Mayflower 720 8,490 3,307 - - 
  7.  Towns Fund – Centre for Food & Fresh Produce 
Logistics 453 388 - - - 
  9.  Towns Fund – Blenkin Memorial Hall 99 - - - - 
10.  Towns Fund – Healing the High Street 283 2,573 1,356 121 - 

11.  Towns Fund – Boston Station 1,665 990 - - - 

Totals 6,862 14,887 5,137 501 380 

 
 
 
 

P
age 48



Page 31 of 32 

 

 

Capital Financing £’000  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

1. Capital Grants and Contributions  4,974 13,711 4,943 401 280 

2. Capital Reserve  1,718 1,156 100 100 100 

3. IT Reserve  170 20 94 - - 

  4.  Repairs and Renewal Reserve  - - - - - 

  5.  Housing Reserve  - - - - - 

Totals  6,862 14,887 5,137 501 380 

 
 

P
age 49



Page 32 of 32 

 

 

13. OPTIONS 
 
13.1 There are no alternative options presented, and Cabinet are requested to recommend the budget be released for consultation. 

Given the likely outlook for future resource levels, the Council needs to focus strategically over the next five years, and consider 
to what extent they wish to maintain existing services, how services might be prioritised, and to develop proposals on how 
future budgetary shortfalls might be addressed.  As in previous years, the Cabinet are encouraged to work with all Members 
(and stakeholders generally) as critical friends to assist in the development of future years’ budgets. 

 
14. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
14.1 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework. 
 
 
15. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
15.1 Recommendation – That Audit and Governance Committee review the draft medium term financial strategy and associated 

financial strategies and provide feedback to Cabinet on: 
 

 

• The budget setting report and associated policies and strategies 2022/23 – 2026/27  

• The Borough Council Tax for a Band D property in 2022/23 is set at £202.86  
 

P
age 50



MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2022-23 TO 2026-27 APPENDIX 1

SUMMARY OF NET REVENUE EXPENDITURE BY PORTFOLIO HOLDER

2022/2023 

ESTIMATE £

2023/2024 

ESTIMATE £

2024/2025 

ESTIMATE £

2025/2026 

ESTIMATE £

2026/2027 

ESTIMATE £

DESCRIPTION

Housing and Communities 859,170 732,920 728,990 753,380 763,790

Heritage 116,980 113,160 88,820 88,910 78,240

Town Centre 899,280 926,750 953,700 982,150 985,330

Environmental 4,370,590 4,445,210 4,554,140 4,701,960 4,771,420

Finance and Commerical 1,234,330 1,060,830 1,107,840 1,157,280 1,000,720

Leader 2,511,470 2,543,310 2,606,410 2,656,560 2,605,660

Economic Development & Planning 1,652,610 1,698,620 1,648,000 1,684,090 1,616,910

BTAC - Included in Town Centre 0 0 0 0 0

NET SERVICE EXPENDITURE 11,644,430 11,520,800 11,687,900 12,024,330 11,822,070

Drainage Board Precepts 2,174,800 2,218,300 2,262,700 2,307,900 2,354,100

Parish Council Precepts 473,000 478,000 483,000 488,000 493,000

TOTAL REQUIREMENT 14,292,230 14,217,100 14,433,600 14,820,230 14,669,170

Appropriations

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital Expenditure 1,888,000 1,176,000 194,000 100,000 100,000

Interest on borrowing 493,640 493,640 493,640 493,640 493,640

Repayment of loan principle / MRP 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

Capital Charges contra entry (2,166,640) (2,166,640) (2,166,640) (2,166,640) (2,166,640)

Return on Cash Investments (32,000) (46,000) (64,000) 0 (90,000) (108,000)

Return on Property Funds (976,770) (976,770) (976,770) 0 (976,770) (976,770)

Contributions To / (From) Reserves (4,604,982) (844,671) 235,180 328,306 326,960

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 8,908,478 11,867,659 12,164,010 12,523,766 12,353,360

FINANCING

Retained Business Rates 7,332,980 7,479,640 7,629,233 7,781,818 7,937,454

Tariff (5,140,710) (5,455,980) (5,565,100) (5,676,400) (5,789,928)

RSG 322,894 322,894 322,894 322,894 322,894

Levy to Pool (177,070) (180,610) (184,220) (187,900) (191,658)

NNDR Surplus / (Deficit) (2,912,500) 0 0 0 0

NNDR Renewables 208,285 208,285 212,000 216,000 219,000

New Homes Bonus 697,400 0 0 0 0

Special Area Expense 739,660 761,890 784,490 808,370 831,590

Parish Council Precepts 473,000 478,000 483,000 488,000 493,000

Specific Grants 2,178,620 1,169,460 1,169,460 1,169,460 1,169,460

Council Tax surplus 86,654 0 0 0 0

Council Tax Precept 4,067,546 4,208,466 4,351,798 4,497,576 4,645,835

FUNDING 7,876,759 8,992,045 9,203,555 9,419,818 9,637,647

NET (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT 1,031,719 2,875,614 2,960,455 3,103,948 2,715,712

28/01/22 14:44 G:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\7\AI00006773\$0manwotq Summary by PFH Apx 1
Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2022-23 TO 2026-27 APPENDIX 2

SUMMARY OF NET REVENUE EXPENDITURE

2022/2023 

ESTIMATE £

2023/2024 

ESTIMATE £

2024/2025 

ESTIMATE £

2025/2026 

ESTIMATE £

2026/2027 

ESTIMATE £

DESCRIPTION

Corporate 3,058,870 3,218,280 3,159,550 3,242,550 3,161,480

Finance 1,502,100 1,372,410 1,402,590 1,428,290 1,266,220

Wellbeing and Community Leadership 1,514,160 1,376,480 1,395,040 1,440,590 1,398,070

Economic Growth 190,610 199,840 207,630 216,430 220,350

Governance 91,480 94,860 97,400 99,990 101,620

General Fund Assets -55,600 -114,630 -138,600 -138,450 -148,650

Leisure and Culture 1,533,430 1,470,880 1,477,970 1,533,090 1,527,920

Neighbourhoods 2,928,220 3,042,550 3,155,220 3,264,470 3,336,800

Planning & Strategic Infastructure 324,210 227,190 263,120 239,000 241,040

Regulatory 556,950 632,940 667,980 698,370 717,220

NET SERVICE EXPENDITURE 11,644,430 11,520,800 11,687,900 12,024,330 11,822,070

Drainage Board Precepts 2,174,800 2,218,300 2,262,700 2,307,900 2,354,100

Parish Council Precepts 473,000 478,000 483,000 488,000 493,000

TOTAL REQUIREMENT 14,292,230 14,217,100 14,433,600 14,820,230 14,669,170

Appropriations

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital Expenditure  1,888,000 1,176,000 194,000 100,000 100,000

Interest on borrowing                                                   493,640 493,640 493,640 493,640 493,640

Repayment of loan principle / MRP                           15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

Capital Charges contra entry                                      (2,166,640) (2,166,640) (2,166,640) (2,166,640) (2,166,640)

Return on Cash Investments (32,000) (46,000) (64,000) (90,000) (108,000)

Return on Property Funds (976,770) (976,770) (976,770) (976,770) (976,770)

Contributions To / (From) Reserves                          (4,604,982) (844,671) 235,180 328,306 326,960

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 8,908,478 11,867,659 12,164,010 12,523,766 12,353,360

FINANCING

Retained Business Rates 7,332,980 7,479,640 7,629,233 7,781,818 7,937,454

Tariff (5,140,710) (5,455,980) (5,565,100) (5,676,400) (5,789,928)

Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 322,894 322,894 322,894 322,894 322,894

Net Levy to Pool (177,070) (180,610) (184,220) (187,900) (191,658)

NNDR surplus / (deficit) (2,912,500) 0 0 0 0

NNDR Renewables 208,285 208,285 212,000 216,000 219,000

Levy Account Surplus - Settlement Data 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus 697,400 0 0 0 0

Special Area Expense (BTAC) 739,660 761,890 784,490 808,370 831,590

Parish Council Precepts 473,000 478,000 483,000 488,000 493,000

Specific Grants                                                           2,178,620 1,169,460 1,169,460 1,169,460 1,169,460

Council Tax surplus/(deficit) 86,654 0 0 0 0

Council Tax Precept 4,067,546 4,208,466 4,351,798 4,497,576 4,645,835

Funding 7,876,759 8,992,045 9,203,555 9,419,818 9,637,647

NET (SURPLUS) / DEFICIT 1,031,719 2,875,614 2,960,455 3,103,948 2,715,712

28/01/22 14:44 G:\Moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\7\7\AI00006773\$2vfbdi4n Budget Book Summary 22-23 Apx 2Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CORPORATE CHARGING POLICY 2022/23 

 

POLICY AIM  
 
The aim of this policy is to provide a corporate framework for the setting of fees 
and charges for the services provided by Boston Borough Council. The policy 
shows the connection between charging for services and the council’s 
objectives and aims to secure the delivery of services efficiently, effectively and 
at affordable levels; it also aims to strengthen financial management. 
 
As the overall resources available to the Council are diminishing, it is important 
to ensure that the charging policy clearly sets out the ways that fees and 
charges will contribute to the continuation of services for residents, businesses 
and other consumers. 
 

POLICY STATEMENT  

LIC STATEMENT 

• The Policy applies to all those fees and charges which the Council has 
discretion to set, regardless of whether the levels are approved by the 
Cabinet or any alternative Council reporting arrangement (for example 
Licensing Committee). Services where charges are decided externally 
will be set in line with the relevant national legal framework and will     
automatically be changed to reflect the latest position. 

 

• We will identify the full costs of delivering services to make clear the level 
of subsidy the Council is providing. 

 

• We will operate an effective and efficient collection system. The methods 
for paying charges will be made clear and the procedures for recovering 
fees will be governed by established Debt Recovery Procedures.  The 
Council reserves the right to levy charges for the late payment of 
invoices. 

 

• Reasonable notice will be given to service users before any new charge 
is implemented. Reasonable notice is defined as one calendar month. 
 

• The effects any new charge has on service usage and income must be 
closely monitored over the first 12 months by the service manager. 
 

• We will invest receipts from fees and charges in the improvement of the 
service, subject to statutory requirements and the wider corporate 
objectives of the Medium Term Financial Strategy. A Service Manager 
may propose to invest receipts from fees and charges and will prepare 
a report to the Corporate Management Team identifying their full 
requirements for use of additional income in their service area. 

 

Page 55



Appendix 3 
 

• All discretionary fees and charges will be set in line with the approved 
charging policy for that service and should fall into one of the categories 
in the following table. 

 

Charging Strategy Objective 

Commercial 
charges 
 

The council aims to cover the cost of providing the 
service and make a surplus 
 

Full Cost 
Recovery 

The council aims to recover the costs of providing 
this service from those who use it 
 

Subsidised The council wishes users of the service to make a 
contribution to the costs of providing it. This might be 
to meet a service objective or to allow competition 
with other providers 
 

Free The Council chooses to make the service available at 
no charge to meet a service objective 
 

Statutory Charges are determined in line with legal 
requirements. 
 

 

• Fees and charges will be regularly reviewed within the Council’s financial 
planning process, any variations outside of this will need formal approval 
by the Cabinet or Committee as appropriate. Service Managers will 
complete the corporate template for the review of fees and charges, these 
will form the bases for reports to the Cabinet or relevant committee, as 
part of the annual review of fees and charges.  

 

• Increases in fees and charges will, each year, be generally in line with the 
level of inflation assumed in the budget process, subject to consideration 
of the specific issues in relation to each service. All changes will be agreed 
as part of the overall budget setting process.  

 

• Wherever possible charges will be collected either in advance or at the 
point of service delivery. Where charges are to be collected after service 
delivery has started, invoices will be raised within 5 working days, and as 
necessary appropriate recovery procedures followed. 

 

• The policy requires a comprehensive schedule of all fees and charges to 
be set up. Each Service Manager will maintain a schedule of fees and 
charges levied for their areas of responsibility. This schedule will be in a 
corporate format and should include, but identify separately, those 
charges that are nationally set. The format will be determined by the 
Accountancy Manager. There may be instances where, for commercial 
reasons, specific fees are not quoted on the schedule. Fees for these 
services will be on a “price on application” basis. 

 

Page 56



Appendix 3 
 

• The Customer Services Manager will be able to refer to all fees and 
charges and these will be made available on the Authority’s website. 

 

• Charges should be easy to understand. 
 

• Existing policies and procedures should be taken into account when 
setting fees and charges. 

 

• Setting of fees and charges should be made in accordance with the current 
value added tax regulations. Where rates of VAT increase then fees and 
charges will automatically be adjusted upwards. Advice will be provided 
by the Accountancy team. 

 

• As a general policy no concession is to be given from the charge set. 
However, it is open to service managers to present a case to the Cabinet 
arguing that a concession is appropriate for a particular group or that a 
concession would assist the achievement of the Council’s Corporate 
Objectives. 

 

• In accordance with business need fees and charges can be amended as 
agreed by the respective Portfolio Holder, Corporate Management Team 
member, Head of Service and the Section 151 Officer (or Deputy Section 
151 Officer) in exceptional circumstances and reported to Cabinet 
retrospectively.  

• I 
IMPLEMENTATION 

IM 
Who is responsible? 
 
Overall responsibility is with the PSPS Financial Services Team and day-to-
day operational responsibility with Service Managers. 
 
Complaints procedure 
 
If any member of the public believes that the Council has acted in a way that 
is not in line with this policy the Council’s Formal Complaints Procedure may 
be followed. 
 
Monitoring and review 
 
The PSPS Financial Services Team will review the implementation of this 
policy and undertake a triennial review of the policy.  
 
Service Team Plans 
 
All service team plans will be consistent with the principles within this policy. 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



Appendix 3 
 

 
 
 
Value for Money 
 
The Council continually reviews its costs and charges to ensure that Value for 
Money is being delivered, and in determining next year’s fees and charges, 
annual reviews will seek to challenge subsidies, determine the value placed on 
the service and how much people are willing to pay. They will also identify any 
new charges for services. 
 
MONITORING 

ONITORING 
The policy will be monitored in the following ways: 
 

MONITORING ACTIVITY PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

Data collection Service Managers 

Review of policy PSPS Financial Services Team 

External communication PSPS Customer Services Manager 

 ONSULTAON 
CONSULTATION 

 
Corporate Management Team and Cabinet were consulted on a draft version 
of the strategy before full implementation. Changes were made to the policy 
reflecting the outcomes of the consultation. 
POLICY APPROVAL 
 
 

Page 58



APPENDIX 4
BOSTON & FOSDYKE CEMETERIES

Proposed Proposed 

Charges Increase Charges VAT

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 LIABILITY

£ £ £

Burial Fee - Adult  (Resident of the Borough) 902.00 0.00 902.00 Non business - no VAT

Burial Fee - Adult  (Non resident within 5 years) 1,804.00 0.00 1,804.00 Non business - no VAT

Burial Fee - Child 6 - 17 years 248.00 -248.00 0.00 Non business - no VAT

Burial Fee - Child 1 month - 5 years 99.00 -99.00 0.00 Non business - no VAT

Burial Fee - Child up to 1 month 35.00 -35.00 0.00 Non business - no VAT

Burial Fee - Non Viable Foetus or Baby Tissues resulting 

from post mortem 35.00 -37.00 -2.00 Non business - no VAT

Excavation of grave space in preparation for construction 

of brick vault:

Brick Vault : Single POA POA Non business - no VAT

                      Double POA POA Non business - no VAT

                      Others (pro rata) POA POA

Re-opening of grave for interment in existing vault 

(excavation & re-filling) 902.00 0.00 902.00 Non business - no VAT

Cremated remains placed in coffin for interment 80.00 2.00 82.00 Non business - no VAT

Interment (beneath surface) or exhumation of cremated 

remains in Cemetery 154.00 4.00 158.00 Non business - no VAT

Double interment of cremated remains (one excavation, 2 

caskets or both in same casket) 231.00 6.00 237.00 Non business - no VAT

Scatter of Cremated Remains in cemetery (unwitnessed) 67.00 0.00 67.00 Non business - no VAT

Officer attendance at witnessed scattering or interment of 

ashes - (by appointment only) 29.00 1.00 30.00 Non business - no VAT

Exhumation of coffined body from cemetery POA POA Standard rate

Fees and Charges

Purchase of Exclusive Right of burial (including memorial 

permit) - single space (resident of Borough) 1,200.00 20.00 1,220.00 Non business - no VAT

Purchase of Exclusive Right of burial (including memorial 

permit) - single space (non resident) 2,400.00 40.00 2,440.00 non business - no VAT

Purchase of Exclusive Right of Burial for a cremated 

remains plot at Fosdyke Cemetery 560.00 17.00 577.00 Non business - no VAT

Transfer of grave ownership fee 37.00 1.00 38.00 non business - no VAT

Administration fee for surrender of Exclusive Right of 

Burial or rectification to change to alternative grave space 60.00 2.00 62.00 Non business - no VAT

Permit for vase (unpurchased graves) 80.00 2.00 82.00 Non business - no VAT

Exclusive right of burial for child grave including memorial 

permit 75.00 -77.00 -2.00 Non business - no VAT

Permit for additional inscription on existing memorial 47.00 2.00 49.00 Non business - no VAT

Grave maintenance - Annual contract

With Planting - Single 114.00 3.00 117.00 Standard rate

With Planting - Double 228.00 6.00 234.00 Standard rate

With Planting - Triple 342.00 9.00 351.00 Standard rate

With Planting - Quadruple 456.00 12.00 468.00 Standard rate

Family History Searches:

To locate names in the indexes & registers through to

identification of the grave on site -

per grave                                                                                                2.50 0.50 3.00 Standard rate 

Non-genealogical searches or names not found in indexes no charge no charge

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5

Reserve Purpose Transfers    In Transfers Out

Balance 

31.03.22 Transfers    In Transfers Out

Balance 

31.03.23 Transfers    In Transfers Out

Balance 

31.03.24 Transfers    In Transfers Out

Balance 

31.03.25 Transfers    In Transfers Out

Balance 

31.03.26 Transfers    In Transfers Out

Balance 

31.03.27

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £ £ £'000 £ £ £'000 £ £ £'000

Capital Funding (950) 663 (5,626) (723) 1,833 (4,516) (344) 1,171 (3,689) (344) 115                 (3,918) (344) 115                (4,147) (344) 115 (4,376)

Transformation Reserve (31) 730 (1,046) (31) 30 (1,048) 0 0 (1,048) -                      -                      (1,048) 0 -                     (1,048) 0 0 (1,048)

Repairs and Renewals -35 8 (752) (35) 0 (787) (35) 0 (823) 35-                   0 (858) (35) 0 (893) (35) 0 (928)

ICT Reserve 0 50 (226) 0 70 (156) 0 20 (136) 0 94                   (42) 0 -                     (42) 0 0 (42)

Housing Reserve (287) 60 (1,474) (75) 124 (1,425) (72) 105 (1,392) (68) 3 (1,458) (67) 3 (1,522) (65) 3 (1,585)

Controlling Migration 0 14 (0) 0 0 (0) 0 0 (0) -                      -                      (0) -                      -                     (0) 0 0 (0)

Climate Change Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -                      -                      0 0 -                     0 0 0 0

Insurance Reserve 0 20 (254) 0 0 (254) 0 0 (254) -                      -                      (254) 0 0 (254) 0 0 (254)

Community Cohesion Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -                      -                      0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Property Fund Returns Risk Mitigation Reserve 0 0 (1,116) 0 0 (1,116) 0 0 (1,116) -                      -                      (1,116) 0 0 (1,116) 0 0 (1,116)

Funding Volatility Reserve 0 1,573 (4,948) 0 2,912 (2,036) 0 0 (2,036) -                      -                      (2,036) 0 0 (2,036) 0 0 (2,036)

Covid 19 -73 47 (1,448) 0 500 (948) 0 0 (948) 0 -                      (948) 0 -                     (948) 0 0 (948)

(1,377) 3,165 (16,891) (865) 5,470 (12,286) (451) 1,296 (11,442) (447) 212 (11,677) (446) 118 (12,005) (444) 118 (12,332)

EARMARKED RESERVES MOVEMENTS SUMMARY

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
  APPENDIX 6
  

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Boston Borough Council 
 

Treasury Management Strategy 

 Statement 

 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement and 

Annual Investment Strategy 2022/23 

 
 

  

Page 63



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

1.  Introduction 

1.1 Background 
 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means 

that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the 
treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately 

planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are 
invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the 
Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before 

considering investment return. 
 

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 
of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, 

to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations. This 
management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or short-term 

loans, or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is 
prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to 
meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

 
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is 

critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or 
the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-
day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a 

balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from 
cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally 

result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate 
security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a 
loss to the General Fund Balance. 

 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) defines 

treasury management as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and 
cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; 
the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 

pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

The Council’s treasury function is undertaken by Public Sector Partnership 
Services Ltd (PSPSL) on behalf of the Council. PSPSL is responsible for 
the: 

 
• Production of the annual treasury management strategy  

• Production of regular treasury management policy reports 
• Production of treasury management practices 
• Production of budget and budget variations relating to the treasury 

management function 
• Production of management information reports 

• Provision of adequate treasury management resources and skills, 
and effective division of responsibilities within the treasury 
management function 

Page 64



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

• Arrangement of the appointment of external service providers. 
 

1.2  Reporting Requirements 
 

1.2.1 Capital Strategy 
 
The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes 

require all local authorities to prepare a capital strategy report, which will 
provide the following:  

 
• a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 

financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 

provision of services 
• an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

• the implications for future financial sustainability 
 
The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on 

the full council fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and 
resulting capital strategy requirements, governance procedures and risk 

appetite. 
 

This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement; non-treasury investments will be 
reported through the former. This ensures the separation of the core 

treasury function under security, liquidity and yield principles, and the 
policy and commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure on 

an asset.  The capital strategy will show: 
 

• The corporate governance arrangements for these types of 

activities; 
• Any service objectives relating to the investments; 

• The expected income, costs and resulting contribution;  
• The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs;  
• The payback period (Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy);  

• For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market 
value;  

• The risks associated with each activity. 
 
Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, 

advisers used, (and their monitoring), ongoing costs and investment 
requirements and any credit information will be disclosed, including the 

ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash. 
 
 

1.2.2 Treasury Management reporting 
 

The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and 
actuals. 

 

Page 65



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

• Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this 
report) - The first, and most important report is forward looking and 

covers: 

• the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

• a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital 

expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

• the treasury management strategy (how the investments and 
borrowings are to be organised) including treasury indicators; 
and  

• an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are 
to be managed). 

 

• A mid year treasury management report – This is primarily a 
progress report and will update members on the capital position, 
amending prudential indicators as necessary, and whether any 

policies require revision. In addition, this Council will receive 
quarterly update reports. 

 
• An annual treasury report – This is a backward looking review 

document and provides details of a selection of actual prudential 

and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to 
the estimates within the strategy. 

 
Scrutiny 
 

The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council.  This role is undertaken by the Audit and 

Governance Committee.  
 

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 
 
The strategy for 2022/23 covers two main areas: 

 
Capital Issues 

• the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

• the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury management issues 

• the current treasury position; 

• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the 
Council; 

• prospects for interest rates; 

• the borrowing strategy; 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

• debt rescheduling; 

• the investment strategy; 

• creditworthiness policy; and 

• policy on use of external service providers. 

 

Page 66



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
the CIPFA Prudential Code, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (DLUHC) MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
and DLUHC Investment Guidance. 

 

1.4 Training 

 

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 

management.  This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  
The Council has addressed this by targeted training courses for relevant 
members.  

   

The training needs of PSPSL treasury management officers are periodically 
reviewed and is supplemented by targeted training as necessary and 

technical advice from our treasury management advisors. 

 
 

1.5 Treasury management consultants 
 
PSPSL uses Link Group as its external treasury management advisors for the 

Council. 
 

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance 
is not placed upon our external service providers. All decisions will be 

undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, 
our treasury advisers. 

 
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of 
treasury management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills 

and resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment 
and the methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed 

and documented and subjected to regular review. 

2 The Capital Prudential Indicators 2022/23 – 2026/27 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected 

in the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview 
and confirm capital expenditure plans. 

 

2.1 Capital Expenditure and financing 

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget 

cycle.  Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 
 
The following table summarises the capital expenditure plans and how 

these plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any 
shortfall of resources results in a funding borrowing need.  

Page 67



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

 

 Capital Programme £’000 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

1. Disabled Facilities Grants 280 280 280 280 280 

  2.  Vehicle Replacement Programme       

              Grounds Maintenance Mowers 80 - - - - 
              Ford Transit Vans 290, 300 & 1.5tdci  
              Courier 60 - - - - 

              Ford Ranger 2.5 25 - - - - 

              Ford Transit Tipper Vans 350 50 56 - - - 

  3.  Town Centre Heritage Scheme 42 - - - - 

  4.  Information Technology Refresh 170 120 194 100 100 

  5.  Towns Fund – Leisure 2,935 1,990 - - - 

  6.  Towns Fund – Mayflower 720 8,490 3,307 - - 
  7.  Towns Fund – Centre for Food & Fresh 
Produce Logistics 453 388 - - - 
  9.  Towns Fund – Blenkin Memorial Hall 99 - - - - 
10.  Towns Fund – Healing the High Street 283 2,573 1,356 121 - 

11.  Towns Fund – Boston Station 1,665 990 - - - 

Totals 6,862 14,887 5,137 501 380 

 
 

Capital Financing £’000  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

1. Capital Grants and Contributions  4,974 13,711 4,943 401 280 

2. Capital Reserve  1,718 1,156 100 100 100 

3. IT Reserve  170 20 94 - - 

  4.  Repairs and Renewal Reserve  - - - - - 

  5.  Housing Reserve  - - - - - 

Totals  6,862 14,887 5,137 501 380 

 

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement) 

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding 
capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or 

capital resources.  It is essentially a measure of the Council’s 
indebtedness and so its underlying borrowing need.  Any capital 

expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for through a 
revenue or capital resource, will increase the CFR.  
 

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the MRP is a statutory annual 
revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with each 

assets life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as 
they are used.  
 

The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. Public Finance 
Initiative (PFI) schemes, finance leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, 

and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, these types of scheme 
include a borrowing facility and so the Council is not required to 

Page 68



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council currently has no such 
schemes within the CFR. 

 
As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the 

cumulative CFR projections as follows: 
 

£000’s 2021/22 
Estimate 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

CFR - non-financial 
investments 

23,505 23,505 23,505 23,505 23,505 23,505 

Total CFR 23,505 23,505 23,505 23,505 23,505 23,505 

Movement in CFR 3,126 - - - - - 

       

Net financing need 
for the year above) 

3,126 - - - - - 

Less MRP/VRP 
and other financing 
movements 

15 15 15 15 15 15 

Movement in CFR 3,111 - - - - - 

 

2.3 Core funds and expected investment balances 

The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either 
finance capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the 
revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on investments unless 

resources are supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales 
etc.).  Detailed below are estimates of the year end balances for each 

resource and anticipated day to day cash flow balances. 
 

Year End Resources 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

£’000’s Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

General Fund Balance      2,000       2,000       2,000       2,000       2,000       2,000  

Earmarked Reserves     16,890     11,613     10,769     11,004     11,332     11,659  

Capital Grants Unapplied         500          456          456          456          456          456  

Boston TAC         223          200          200          200          200          200  

Capital receipts         239          239          239          239          239          239  

Total core funds    19,852     14,508     13,664     13,899     14,227     14,554  

Working capital*         475          475          475          475          475          475  

Under borrowing -    7,056  -    7,056  -    7,056  -    7,056  -    7,056  -    7,056  

Expected investments    13,271       7,927       7,083       7,318       7,646       7,973  

 

      
*Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be 
higher mid-year. 

 
 

 
 

Page 69



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

2.5 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General 

Fund capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the 
minimum revenue provision - MRP), although it is also allowed to 

undertake additional voluntary payments if required (voluntary revenue 
provision - VRP).   

DLUHC regulations have been issued which require the full Council to 

approve an MRP Statement in advance of each year. A variety of 
options are provided to councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.  

The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement. 

For capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008 or which in the 
future will be Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be: 

• Existing practice - MRP will follow the existing practice outlined 
in former DLUHC regulations (option 1); or 

• Based on CFR – MRP will be based on the CFR (option 2); 

These options provide for an approximate 4% reduction in the 
borrowing need (CFR) each year. 

 
From 1 April 2008, for all unsupported borrowing the MRP policy will be 

either: 
 

• asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the 
assets, in accordance with the regulations (this option must be 
applied for any expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation 

Direction) (option 3); or 
 

• depreciation method – MRP will follow standard depreciation 
accounting procedures. 

 

These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over 
approximately the asset’s life. 

 
 
Assets held for investment purposes 

 
Where the Council holds investment assets the Council’s MRP Policy will be 

to determine the amount of MRP and VRP based on the combined value of 
its holdings at the end of each financial year. The Council will ensure that 
any capital receipts generated from the sale of property fund units will be 

earmarked and set aside when received to reduce the CFR liability by the 
amount of the original borrowing for units sold if MRP/VRP has not 

previously been provided for. 
 
The Council will also monitor the performance of its Property Fund 

holdings on a regular basis with performance reported to the Audit and 
Governance Committee quarterly. 

 
MRP Overpayments 
 

Page 70



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

A change introduced by the revised DLUHC MRP Guidance was the 
allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum revenue 

provision, voluntary revenue provision or overpayments, can, if needed, 
be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent. In order for 

these sums to be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must disclose 
the cumulative overpayment made each year. As at 31 December 2021 
the total MRP overpayments were £1,428,623. 

 

3. Borrowing 

The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the 
service activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures 

that the Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the relevant 
professional codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service 
activity.  This will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and, where 

capital plans require, the organisation of appropriate borrowing facilities.  The 
strategy covers the relevant treasury/prudential indicators, the current and 

projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy. 
 

3.1 Current portfolio position 

 
The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 2021 and for the 

position as at 31 December 2021 based on cost are shown below for both 
borrowing and investments. 
 

 
 

Page 71



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The 
table shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing 

need, (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or 
under borrowing. 

 
£’000’s 2021/22 

Estimate  
2022/23 

Estimate 
2023/24 

Estimate 
2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

Debt at 1 April  16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 

Expected change in 
Debt 

- - - - - - 

Actual gross debt 
at 31 March  

16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 16,449 

The Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 

    
23,505  

    
23,505  

    
23,505  

    
23,505  

    
23,626  

    
23,626  

(Under) /over 
borrowing 

 (7,056)   (7,056) (7,056)  (7,056)   (7,177)   (7,177)  

 

Within the range of prudential indicators, there are a number of key 

indicators to ensure that the Council operates its activities within well-
defined limits.  One of these is that the Council needs to ensure that its 
gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR 

in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2022/23 
and the following two financial years. This allows some flexibility for 

limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing is not 
undertaken for revenue or speculative purposes. 
 

The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this 
prudential indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties 

for the future.  This view takes into account current commitments, 
existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report. 
 

3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 
 

The operational boundary.  This is the limit beyond which external 
borrowing is not normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would 
be a similar figure to the CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on 

the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-borrowing by other 
cash resources. 

Operational boundary 
(£’000) 

2021/22 
Estimate  

 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

Debt 22,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 22,000 

Other long term 
liabilities 

3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

Total 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 

 

The authorised limit for external debt - This is a key prudential 
indicator and represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  
This represents a legal limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and 

this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council.  It reflects the 
level of external debt, which while not desired, could be afforded in the 

short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.     

Page 72



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the 
Local Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to 

control either the total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific 
council, although this power has not yet been exercised. 

2. As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the 
following indicators, as shown below: 

 

 
Authorised 
Limit (£’000) 

2021/22 
Estimate 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

2026/27 
Estimate 

Borrowing 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 

Other long term 
liabilities 

3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 

Total 28,000 28,000 28,000 28,000 28,000 28,000 

 

Page 73



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

3.3 Prospects for interest rates (8th Nov 2021) 

The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of 

their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. 
Link provided the following forecasts on 8th November 2021.  These are 

forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields plus 80 bps. 
 

 
The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and 
to economies around the world. After the Bank of England took emergency 
action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate 

unchanged at its subsequent meetings. 
 

As shown in the forecast table above, the forecast for Bank Rate now 
includes five increases, one in December 2021 to 0.25%, then quarter 2 of 
2022 to 0.50%, quarter 1 of 2023 to 0.75%, quarter 1 of 2024 to 1.00% 

and, finally, one in quarter 1 of 2025 to 1.25%. 
 

Significant risks to the forecasts 
• Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive 

and depress economic activity. 

 
• Mutations of the virus render current vaccines ineffective, and 

tweaked vaccines to combat these mutations are delayed, resulting 
in further national lockdowns or severe regional restrictions.  

 

• The Monetary Policy Committee acts too quickly, or too far, over 
the next three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic 

growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently 
anticipate.  

 
• The Monetary Policy Committee tightens monetary policy too late 

to ward off building inflationary pressures. 

 
• The Government acts too quickly to cut expenditure to balance the 

national budget. 
 

• UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on 

trade flows and financial services due to complications or lack of co-
operation in sorting out significant remaining issues.  

 

 

Link Group Interest Rate View  8.11.21

Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25

BANK RATE 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

  3 month ave earnings 0.30 0.40 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

  6 month ave earnings 0.40 0.50 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10

12 month ave earnings 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00

10 yr PWLB 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40

25 yr PWLB 2.10 2.20 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70

50 yr PWLB 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

Page 74



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

• German general election in September 2021. Germany faces 
months of uncertainty while a new coalition government is cobbled 

together after the indecisive result of the election. Once that coalition 
is formed, Angela Merkel’s tenure as Chancellor will end and will leave 

a hole in overall EU leadership. 
 

• Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly and pull gilt yields 

up higher than forecast. 
 

• Major stock markets e.g., in the US, become increasingly judged 
as being over-valued and susceptible to major price corrections. 
Central banks become increasingly exposed to the “moral hazard” 

risks of having to buy shares and corporate bonds to reduce the 
impact of major financial market selloffs on the general economy. 

 
• Geopolitical risks, for example in Iran, North Korea, but also in 

Europe and Middle Eastern countries; on-going global power 

influence struggles between Russia/China/US. These could lead to 
increasing safe-haven flows.  

 
The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

• The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to 
the downside, including residual risks from Covid and its variants - 
both domestically and their potential effects worldwide. 

 
Forecasts for Bank Rate 

It is not expected that Bank Rate will go up fast after the initial rate rise as 
the supply potential of the economy is not likely to have taken a major hit 
during the pandemic: it should, therefore, be able to cope well with meeting 

demand after supply shortages subside over the next year, without causing 
inflation to remain elevated in the medium-term, or to inhibit inflation from 

falling back towards the MPC’s 2% target after the spike up to around 5%. 
The forecast includes five increases in Bank Rate over the three-year 
forecast period to March 2025, ending at 1.25%. However, it is likely that 

these forecasts will need changing within a relatively short timeframe for 
the following reasons: - 

 
• There are increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as 

running out of steam during the summer and now into the autumn. 

This could lead into stagflation which would create a dilemma for the 
MPC as to whether to focus on combating inflation or supporting 

economic growth through keeping interest rates low. 
• Will some current key supply shortages spill over into causing 

economic activity in some sectors to take a significant hit? 

• Rising gas and electricity prices in October and next April and 
increases in other prices caused by supply shortages and increases 

in taxation next April, are already going to deflate consumer spending 
power without the MPC having to take any action on Bank Rate to 
cool inflation.  

• On the other hand, consumers are sitting on over £160bn of excess 
savings left over from the pandemic so when will they spend this 

sum, in part or in total? 

Page 75



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

• It is estimated that there were around 1 million people who came off 
furlough at the end of September; how many of those would not have 

had jobs on 1st October and would therefore be available to fill labour 
shortages which are creating a major headache in many sectors of 

the economy? So, supply shortages which have been driving up both 
wages and costs, could reduce significantly within the next six 
months or so and alleviate one of the MPC’s key current concerns. 

• We also recognise there could be further nasty surprises on the Covid 
front, on top of the flu season this winter, and even the possibility of 

another lockdown, which could all depress economic activity. 
• If the UK invokes article 16 of the Brexit deal over the dislocation in 

trading arrangements with Northern Ireland, this has the potential to 

end up in a no deal Brexit. 
 

In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several 
different fronts, it is likely that these forecasts will be revised again over 
the next few months - in line with what the new news is. 

 
It should also be borne in mind that Bank Rate being cut to 0.10% was an 

emergency measure to deal with the Covid crisis hitting the UK in March 
2020. At any time, the MPC could decide to simply take away that final 

emergency cut from 0.25% to 0.10% on no other grounds than it being no 
longer being warranted and as a step forward in the return to normalisation. 
In addition, any Bank Rate under 1% is both highly unusual and highly 

supportive of economic growth.  
 

Forecasts for PWLB rates and gilt and treasury yields 
As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there 
is likely to be a steady rise over the forecast period, with some degree of 

uplift due to rising treasury yields in the US.    
There is likely to be exceptional volatility and unpredictability in 

respect of gilt yields and PWLB rates due to the following factors: - 
• How strongly will changes in gilt yields be correlated to changes in 

US treasury yields (see below). Over 10 years since 2011 there has 

been an average 75% correlation between movements in US treasury 
yields and gilt yields.  However, from time to time these two yields 

can diverge. Lack of spare economic capacity and rising inflationary 
pressures are viewed as being much greater dangers in the US than 
in the UK. This could mean that central bank rates will end up rising 

earlier and higher in the US than in the UK if inflationary pressures 
were to escalate; the consequent increases in treasury yields could 

well spill over to cause (lesser) increases in gilt yields.  There is, 
therefore, an upside risk to forecasts for gilt yields due to this 
correlation. The Link Group forecasts have included a risk of a 75% 

correlation between the two yields. 
• Will the Fed take action to counter increasing treasury yields if they 

rise beyond a yet unspecified level? 
• Would the MPC act to counter increasing gilt yields if they rise beyond 

a yet unspecified level? 

• How strong will inflationary pressures actually turn out to be in both 
the US and the UK and so put upward pressure on treasury and gilt 

yields? 

Page 76



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

• How will central banks implement their new average or sustainable 
level inflation monetary policies? 

• How well will central banks manage the withdrawal of QE purchases 
of their national bonds i.e., without causing a panic reaction in 

financial markets as happened in the “taper tantrums” in the US in 
2013? 

• Will exceptional volatility be focused on the short or long-end of the 

yield curve, or both? 
 

The forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-
up of the Eurozone or EU within the forecasting period, despite the major 
challenges that are looming up, and that there are no major ructions in 

international relations, especially between the US and China / North Korea 
and Iran, which have a major impact on international trade and world GDP 

growth.  
 
The balance of risks to medium to long term PWLB rates: - 

• There is a balance of upside risks to forecasts for medium to long 
term PWLB rates. 

 
A new era – a fundamental shift in central bank monetary policy 

One of the key results of the pandemic has been a fundamental rethinking 
and shift in monetary policy by major central banks like the Fed, the Bank 
of England and the ECB, to tolerate a higher level of inflation than in the 

previous two decades when inflation was the prime target to bear down on 
so as to stop it going above a target rate. There is now also a greater 

emphasis on other targets for monetary policy than just inflation, especially 
on ‘achieving broad and inclusive “maximum” employment in its entirety’ in 
the US, before consideration would be given to increasing rates.  

 
• The Fed in America has gone furthest in adopting a monetary policy 

based on a clear goal of allowing the inflation target to be 
symmetrical, (rather than a ceiling to keep under), so that inflation 
averages out the dips down and surges above the target rate, over 

an unspecified period of time.  
• The Bank of England has also amended its target for monetary policy 

so that inflation should be ‘sustainably over 2%’ before starting on 
raising Bank Rate and the ECB now has a similar policy.  

• For local authorities, this means that investment interest 

rates and very short term PWLB rates will not be rising as 
quickly or as high as in previous decades when the economy 

recovers from a downturn and the recovery eventually runs 
out of spare capacity to fuel continuing expansion.   

• Labour market liberalisation since the 1970s has helped to break the 

wage-price spirals that fuelled high levels of inflation and has now 
set inflation on a lower path which makes this shift in monetary policy 

practicable. In addition, recent changes in flexible employment 
practices, the rise of the gig economy and technological changes, will 
all help to lower inflationary pressures.   

• Governments will also be concerned to see interest rates stay lower 
as every rise in central rates will add to the cost of vastly expanded 

levels of national debt; (in the UK this is £21bn for each 1% rise in 

Page 77



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

rates). On the other hand, higher levels of inflation will help to erode 
the real value of total public debt. 

 
 

Investment and borrowing rates 
• Investment returns are expected to improve in 2022/23. 

However, while markets are pricing in a series of Bank Rate hikes, 

actual economic circumstances may see the MPC fall short of these 
elevated expectations.  

• Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a 
result of the COVID crisis and the quantitative easing operations of 
the Bank of England and still remain at historically low levels. The 

policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash 
balances has served local authorities well over the last few years.   

• On 25.11.20, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the 
review of margins over gilt yields for PWLB rates which had been 
increased by 100 bps in October 2019.  The standard and certainty 

margins were reduced by 100 bps but a prohibition was introduced 
to deny access to borrowing from the PWLB for any local authority 

which had purchase of assets for yield in its three-year capital 
programme. The current margins over gilt yields are as follows: -. 

▪ PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 
▪ PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps) 
▪ PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points 

(G+100bps) 
▪ PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps) 

▪ Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 
 

• Borrowing for capital expenditure. Our long-term (beyond 10 

years), forecast for Bank Rate is 2.00%.  As some PWLB certainty 
rates are currently below 2.00%, there remains value in considering 

long-term borrowing from the PWLB where appropriate.  Temporary 
borrowing rates are likely, however, to remain near Bank Rate and 
may also prove attractive as part of a balanced debt portfolio. In 

addition, there are also some cheap alternative sources of long-
term borrowing if an authority is seeking to avoid a “cost of carry” 

but also wishes to mitigate future re-financing risk. 
• While this authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance 

new capital expenditure, to replace maturing debt and the rundown 

of reserves, there will be a cost of carry, (the difference between 
higher borrowing costs and lower investment returns), to any new 

borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash balances. 
 
 

(End of Link Group Commentary) 

  

Page 78



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

3.4  Borrowing strategy  

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means 

that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not 
been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, 

balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This 
strategy has been prudent as investment returns have been low and 
counterparty risk is still an issue that needs to be considered. 

 
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 

will be adopted with the 2022/23 treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer  
will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic 
approach to changing circumstances: 

 
• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in 

borrowing rates, then borrowing will be postponed. 
 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 

borrowing rates, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate of 
increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world 

economic activity, or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the 
portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding 

will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to 
be in the next few years. 

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the 
next available opportunity. 

 
3.5 Policy on borrowing in advance of need  

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision 

to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 

for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds.  
 

Risks associated with any borrowing activity will be subject to rigorous prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year and annual 

reporting mechanisms. 
 
 

3.6 Maturity structure of borrowing 

These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate 

sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits.  
The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits: 
  

Page 79



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

 
Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2022/23 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 100% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 100% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 100% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 100% 

10 years to 20 years  0% 100% 

20 years to 30 years  0% 100% 

30 years to 40 years  0% 100% 

40 years to 50 years  0% 100% 

Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2022/23 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 100% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 100% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 100% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 100% 

10 years to 20 years  0% 100% 

20 years to 30 years  0% 100% 

30 years to 40 years  0% 100% 

40 years to 50 years  0% 100% 

3.7 Debt rescheduling 

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur 

as there is still a very large difference between premature redemption rates 
and new borrowing rates, even though the general margin of PWLB rates 

over gilt yields was reduced by 100 bps in November 2020. 
 

If rescheduling is undertaken it will be reported to the Executive Board at 
the earliest meeting following its action.  
 

3.8 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and / or 
types of borrowing 

 
Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both 
HRA and non-HRA borrowing.  However, consideration may still need to be 

given to sourcing funding from the following sources for the following 
reasons: 

 
• Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities out to 3 years 

or so – still cheaper than the Certainty Rate). 

• Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension 
funds but also some banks, out of forward dates where the 

objective is to avoid a “cost of carry” or to achieve refinancing 
certainty over the next few years). 

 

Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of 
these alternative funding sources. 

  

Page 80



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

3.9 Approved Sources of Long and Short-Term Borrowing  
 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable 
   

PWLB • • 

Municipal bond agency  • • 

Local authorities • • 

Banks • • 

Pension funds • • 

Insurance companies • • 

UK Infrastructure Bank • • 

 

Market (long-term) • • 

Market (temporary) • • 

Market (LOBOs) • • 

Stock issues • • 

 

Local temporary • • 

Local Bonds • 

Local authority bills                                                                    •
 • 

Overdraft  • 

Negotiable Bonds • • 

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances) • • 

Commercial Paper • 

Medium Term Notes •  

Finance leases • • 

 

4 Annual Investment Strategy 

4.1 Investment policy – management of risk 

 
The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC - this was 

formerly the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG)) and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include 
both financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with 

treasury (financial) investments, (as managed by the treasury management 
team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding 

assets, are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a separate report). 
 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: 

 
• DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”) 

• CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and 
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)  

• CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018   

 

Page 81



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

The Council’s funds are managed by PSPSL with reference to a detailed cash 
flow forecast on a daily basis for the current year. Protocols are in place to 

govern the movement of funds within specific limits.  
 

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity 
second and then yield, (return).  The Council will aim to achieve the optimum 
return (yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security 

and liquidity and with the Council’s risk appetite. In the current economic 
climate, it is considered appropriate to keep investments short term to cover 

cash flow needs. However, where appropriate (from an internal as well as 
external perspective), the Council will also consider the value available in 
periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, as well as 

wider range fund options. 
  

The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to 
managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: - 

 
• Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a 

list of highly creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables 
diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings 

used to monitor counterparties are the short term and long-term 
ratings.  

 

• Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the 
quality of an institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor 

the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to 
the economic and political environments in which institutions operate. 
The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 

opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will 
engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such 

as “credit default swaps” (CDS) and overlay that information on top 
of the credit ratings.  

 

• Other information sources used will include the financial press, share 
price and other such information pertaining to the banking sector in 

order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of 
potential investment counterparties. 

 

• This authority has defined the list of types of investment 
instruments that the treasury management team are authorised to 

use. There are two lists in Appendix 5.4 under the categories of 
‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments.  
 

• Specified investments are those with a high level of credit 
quality and subject to a maturity limit of one year or have less 

than a year left to run to maturity if originally they were 
originally classified as being non-specified investments solely due 
to the maturity period exceeding one year. 

 
• Non-specified investments are those with less high credit 

quality, may be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are 

Page 82



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

more complex instruments which require greater consideration 
by members and officers before being authorised for use.  

 
 

• Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that 

it will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments 

to £5m of the total investment portfolio, (see paragraph 4.3). 

 

• Lending limits, the maximum total investments to any individual 

financial institution or its parent group is £5m. The maximum limit 

for individual money market funds is £7.5m. The maximum 

permitted duration of investments for each institution will be 

determined in accordance with paragraph 4.2. There will be no 

maximum limit with the Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility 

(UK Government). 

 

• Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in paragraph 

4.2 

 

• This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which 

are invested for longer than 365 days, (see paragraph 4.4).   

 

• Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries 

with a specified minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 4.3). 

 

• PSPSL has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph 1.5), to 

provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of 

security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this authority 

in the context of the expected level of cash balances and need for 

liquidity throughout the year. 

 

• All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

 

• As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022/23 under 

IFRS 9, this authority will consider the implications of investment 

instruments which could result in an adverse movement in the value of 

the amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the 

General Fund. (In November 2018, the MHCLG, concluded a 

consultation for a temporary override to allow English local authorities 

time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled investments by announcing a 

statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five years 

ending 31st March 2023. 

 

 

However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury 

management and will monitor the yield from investment income against 

appropriate benchmarks for investment performance. Regular monitoring 

of investment performance will be carried out during the year. 

Page 83



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

4.2 Creditworthiness policy 

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group.  
This service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utlilising credit 

ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s, and 
Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented 

with the following overlays:  
 

• watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most 

creditworthy countries. 
 

This modelling approach combines credit ratings, and any assigned Watches 
and Outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an 

overlay of CDS spreads. The end product of this is a series of colour coded 
bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These 
colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for 

investments.   The Council will therefore use counterparties within the 
following durational bands: 

 
• Yellow  5 years  
• Dark pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit 

score of 1.25 
• Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit  

   score of 1.5 
• Purple   2 years 
• Blue   1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised 

UK Banks) 
• Orange  1 year 

• Red   6 months 
• Green   100 days   
• No colour  not to be used  

 
The Link creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just 

primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give 
undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 
 

Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a short 
term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of short term rating F1 and a long term 

rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one 
rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be 
used.  In these instances consideration will be given to the whole range of 

ratings available, or other topical market information, to support their use. 
  

Page 84



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

All credit ratings will be monitored daily. PSPSL is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness 

service. 
 

• if a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new 
investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

• in addition to the use of credit ratings PSPSL will be advised of 
information in movements in CDS spreads against the iTraxx benchmark 
and other market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements 

may result in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s 
lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition 
this Council will also use market data and market information and information 
on any external support for banks to help support its decision making 

process. 
 

Creditworthiness. 
Significant levels of downgrades to Short- and Long-Term credit ratings 
have not materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where 

they did change, any alterations were limited to Outlooks. However, as 
economies are beginning to reopen, there have been some instances of 

previous lowering of Outlooks being reversed.  
 
CDS prices 

Although bank CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), 
spiked upwards at the end of March / early April 2020 due to the heightened 

market uncertainty and ensuing liquidity crisis that affected financial 
markets, they have returned to more average levels since then. However, 

sentiment can easily shift, so it will remain important to undertake continual 
monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the current circumstances. 
Link monitor CDS prices as part of their creditworthiness service to local 

authorities and the Council has access to this information via its Link-
provided Passport portal. 

4.3 Other limits 

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total 

treasury investment portfolio to non-specified investments, countries, 

groups and sectors.   

• Non-specified investment limit. The Council has determined that 

it will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments 

to £10m of the total investment portfolio. 

 

• Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use 

approved counterparties from the United Kingdom or countries with a 

minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch (or equivalent). 

The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the 

date of this report are shown in Appendix 5.4.  This list will be 

Page 85



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in 

accordance with this policy. 

 

• Other limits. In addition: 

• no more than £5m will be placed with any non-UK country at any 

time; 

• limits in place above will apply to a group of companies; 

• sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness 

4.4 Investment strategy 

In-house funds.  

Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for 

investments up to 12 months).  Greater returns are usually obtainable by 
investing for longer periods. Where cash sums can be identified that could be 

invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed.  
 

• If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time 
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping 

most investments as being short term or variable. 
  
• Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time 

period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently 
obtainable, for longer periods. 

 
Investment returns expectations  
The current forecast shown in paragraph 3.3, includes a forecast for a first 

increase in Bank Rate in December 2021 though there is a high risk that it could 
be delayed until quarter 1 or 2 of 2022.   

 
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year, (based 

on a first increase in Bank Rate in quarter 2 of 2022), are as follows.:  
 

Average earnings in each 
year 

Now Previously 

2022/23 0.50% 0.25% 

2023/24 0.75% 0.50% 

2024/25 1.00% 0.50% 

2025/26 1.25% 1.00% 

Long term later years 2.00% 2.00% 

 
 

Page 86



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its 
business reserve instant access and notice accounts, money market funds 

and short-dated deposits, (overnight to 100 days), in order to benefit from 
the compounding of interest.   

 
Investment treasury indicator and limit  
Total principal funds invested for greater than 365 days. These limits are set 

with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for 
early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after 

each year-end.  
 
As part of the formal governance process, the Council approves the treasury 

indicator and limit, as shown below: 
 

£’000 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Principal sums invested > 365 days 
(excluding non-treasury investments) 

 
10,000 

 
10,000 

 
10,000 

 
10,000 

Current treasury investments as at 
31 December 2020 in excess of 1 
year maturing in each year 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
 

4.5 Investment risk benchmarking 
 
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks in this area, as 

officers believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment 
levels are adequate to monitor the current and trend position, and amend 

the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions change. 

Any breach of the benchmarks will be reported, with supporting reasons in 
the mid-year or Annual Report. 

 

4.6 End of year investment report 

 
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment 
activity as part of its Annual Treasury Report.  

 

 

 

Page 87



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

5  Appendices  
 

1. Prudential and treasury indicators  

2. Interest rate forecasts 

3. Treasury management practice 1 – credit and counterparty risk 
management  

4. Approved countries for investments 

5. Treasury management scheme of delegation 

6. The treasury management role of the section 151 officer 

 
 
 

Page 88



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.1 THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY 
INDICATORS 2022/23 – 2024/25  

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 

management activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is 
reflected in the prudential indicators, which are designed to assist 

members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. 

5.1.1 Affordability prudential indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing 
prudential indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are 

required to assess the affordability of the capital investment plans.   
These provide an indication of the impact of the capital investment plans 
on the Council’s overall finances.  The Council is asked to approve the 

following indicators: 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and 

other long-term obligation costs net of investment income), against the 
net revenue stream. 

 

% 2022/23 

Estimate 

2023/24 

Estimate 

2024/25 

Estimate 

2025/26 

Estimate 

2026/27 

Estimate 

Total -2.87% -2.32% -1.99% -2.19% -2.18% 

 

The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the 
proposals in this budget report. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

P
age 90



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.3 - Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and 
Counterparty Risk Management Specified and Non-Specified 

Investments and Limits 
 

SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling 

denominated, with maturities up to maximum of 1 year, meeting 
the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. 
 

 
 Minimum ‘High’ Credit 
Criteria 

Use 

Debt Management Agency Deposit 
Facility 

N/A 
In-house ( no 
maximum limit) 

Deposits with local authorities   N/A In-house 

Term deposits – banks and building 
societies  

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house 

Certificates of deposit issued by banks 
and building societies 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house 

Treasury Bills UK sovereign rating In-house 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

AAA 
In-house buy and 
hold 

Money market funds AAA 
In-house (£7.5m 
limit for cash flow 
purposes) 

Money Market Funds  CNAV (Constant 
Net Asset Value) 

AAA In-house 

Money Market Funds  LVAV (Low 
Volatility Asset Value) 

AAA In-house 

Money Market Funds  VNAV (Variable 
Net Asset Value) 

AAA In-house 

 
Term deposits with nationalised banks and banks and building societies  

 
If forward deposits are to be made, the forward period plus the deal period 
should not exceed one year in aggregate.   

 

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 
Max of total 
investments 

Max. 

maturity 
period 

UK  part nationalised 
banks 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix 

In-
house  

£5m 1 year 

Banks part 
nationalised by AAA 
or AA- sovereign 
rating countries – non 
UK 

Minimum colour of 
green on our external 
treasury advisers 
credit rating matrix 

In-
house  

£5m 1 year 

Page 91



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

Accounting treatment of investments.  The accounting treatment may 
differ from the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions 

made by this Council. To ensure that the Council is protected from any 
adverse revenue impact, which may arise from these differences, we will 

review the accounting implications of new transactions before they are 
undertaken. 
 

NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not 
meet the Specified Investment criteria.  A maximum of £10m treasury 

investments can be held in aggregate in non-specified investment. 
 
1.  Maturities of ANY period 

 

 
Minimum Credit 

Criteria 
Use 

Max of non-

specified 

investments 

Max. 

maturity 

period 

Fixed term deposits with 
variable rate and variable 
maturities: -Structured 
deposits 

Sovereign rating  
of AAA to AA- and 
minimum colour of 
green on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit 
rating matrix 

In-house  £5m 1 year 

UK Government Gilts 
UK sovereign 
rating 

In-house 
buy and 
hold 

£5m 2 year 

Sovereign bond issues (other 
than the UK govt) 

AAA 
In-house 
buy and 
hold 

£5m 2 year 

Bond issuance issued by a 
financial institution which is 
explicitly guaranteed by  the 
UK Government  (e.g. 
National Rail)  

UK sovereign 
rating 

In-house 
buy and 
hold 

£5m 2 year 

Collateralised deposits (see 
note 1) 

UK  Sovereign 
rating  

In-house  £5m 1 year 

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs) 

Property Funds: 
(excluding non-treasury 
investments) 

 In-house £8m  

The use of property funds can be deemed capital expenditure, and as such will be 

an application (spending) of capital resources.  This Authority will seek guidance 
on the status of any fund it may consider using. Appropriate due diligence will 
also be undertaken before investment of this type is undertaken. 

 
The Section 151 and Deputy Section 151 Officer will have delegated authority to 

invest in property funds subject to consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance. 

 

Page 92



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

Collective Investment Schemes structured as Open Ended Investment Companies (OEICs): - 

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 

Max of non-

specified 
investments 

Max. maturity 
period 

1. Government Liquidity 
     Funds 

Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house  £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

2. Ultra-Short Dated Bond 
Funds with a credit score 
of 1.25 

Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

3. Ultra-Short Dated Bond 
Funds with a credit score 
of 1.5 

Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

4. Bond Funds 
Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

5. Gilt Funds 
Long-term AAA 
volatility rating 
MR1+ 

In-house £10m 
1 month notice 

period 

 

Note 1 : as collateralised deposits are backed by collateral of AAA rated local 
authority LOBOs, this investment instrument is regarded as being a AAA rated 
investment as it is equivalent to lending to a local authority. 
 
2.  Maturities in excess of 1 year 

 
Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Use 
Max. of total 
investments 

Max. 
maturity 
period 

Deposits with UK local 
authorities  

N/A In-house £5m 2 year 

Term deposits to 
Registered Social 
Landlords 

None 

In-house subject 
to due diligence 
report by Link 
Group 

£5m 5 year 

Term deposits – banks 
and building societies  

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA to AA- and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit rating 
matrix 

In-house £5m 2 year 

Certificates of deposit 
issued by banks and 
building societies  

Sovereign rating  of 
AAA to AA- and 
minimum colour of 
orange on our 
external treasury 
advisers credit rating 
matrix 

In-house  £5m 2 year 

Bonds issued by 
multilateral development 
banks 

AAA In-house  £5m 2 year 

 

Page 93



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

Whilst these are maximum limits, under normal circumstances the Section 
151 Officer will ensure lower limits are maintained. The higher limits are 

required to allow flexibility in the movement of funds if a particular issue or 
circumstance arose e.g. global banking crisis. 

 
The maximum total investment to any individual financial institution or its 
parent group is £5m except for the instant access money market fund which 

has a limit of £7.5m and the UK Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility 
(UK Government) which has no maximum limit.  

Page 94



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.4 - Approved countries for investments as at 10 November 

2021  

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher, (we 
show the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, (except - at the time of 
writing - for Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in sterling 
markets which have credit ratings of green or above in the Link credit worthiness service. 
 

Based on lowest available rating 
 

AAA                      

• Australia 

• Denmark 

• Germany 

• Luxembourg 

• Netherlands  

• Norway 

• Singapore 

• Sweden 

• Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

• Canada    

• Finland 

• U.S.A. 

 

AA 

• Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

• France 

 

AA- 

• Belgium 

• Hong Kong 

• Qatar 

• U.K. 

Page 95



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.5 - Treasury management scheme of delegation 

Council - Receive, Review and Approval of Treasury Policy 

Statement – February/March cycle 
- Receive, Review and Approval of Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement incorporating the Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy – 
February/March cycle followed by mid year report update. 

Updates or revisions at other times as required 
- Receive, Review and Approval of Annual Treasury Outturn 

Report by 30 September after the year end 
 

Executive Board - Recommend to Council a Treasury Policy Statement 

- Recommend to Council a Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement incorporating the Annual Investment Strategy 

and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy – February/March 
cycle followed by mid year report update 

- Extraordinary Activity and Investment Management 

arrangements – as soon as possible after significant 
change occurs 

- Recommend to Council a Treasury Management Outturn 
Report by 30 September after the year end 

 
Audit and Governance 
Committee 

- Receive Treasury Management Mid Term report 
- Receive Treasury Management Outturn Report 

- Receive Treasury Management Practices annually if 
amended 

- Scrutiny of the Treasury Management Strategy before the 
commencement of each financial year 

- Scrutiny of Treasury Management performance as part of 

the Mid Term report. 
 

 
SCRUTINY AND MONITORING 
  

Council delegates the scrutiny and monitoring of the Treasury Management 

function to the Audit and Governance Committee.  As a minimum they will 
receive a Mid Term Treasury report on investment issues and performance. 
Training will be made available for members of the Audit and Governance 

Committee to ensure they have the necessary skills to undertake this role. 
Recommendations will be reported to Executive Board. 

 
The Audit and Governance Committee will also have access to professional 
and independent advice and support as required in order to undertake this 

role. 

Page 96



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

APPENDIX 5.6 - The treasury management role of the section 151 
officer and deputy 

The S151 Officer’s main functions with regards to treasury are to: 
  

• recommend clauses, treasury management policy/practices for 
approval, review the same regularly, and monitor compliance 

• submit regular treasury management policy reports 

• submit budgets and budget variations 
• receive and review management information reports 

• review the performance of the treasury management function 
• ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and 

the effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management 

function 
• ensure the adequacy of internal audit, and liaise with external audit 

• recommending the appointment of external service providers 
• preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital 

financing, non-financial investments and treasury management, with a 

long term timeframe  
• ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and 

prudent in the long term and provides value for money 
• ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and 

non-financial investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of 
the authority 

• ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake 

expenditure on non-financial assets and their financing 
• ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does 

not undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an 
excessive level of risk compared to its financial resources 

• ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the 

approval, monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial 
investments and long term liabilities 

• provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments 
including material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and 
financial guarantees  

• ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the 
risk exposures taken on by an authority 

• ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or 
externally provided, to carry out the above 

• creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with 

how non treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to 
include the following: 

 
➢ Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and 

risk management criteria for any material non-treasury investment 

portfolios; 
 

➢ Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and 
schedules), including methodology and criteria for assessing the 
performance and success of non-treasury investments;          

 

Page 97



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

➢ Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and 
schedules), including a statement of the governance requirements 

for decision making in relation to non-treasury investments; and 
arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due 

diligence is carried out to support decision making; 
 

➢ Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), 

including where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 
  

➢ Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how 
the relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury 
investments will be arranged. 

 
As an added safeguard, as part of the Section 151’s statutory responsibility, 

the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) is obliged to notify the Monitoring Officer of 
any material change proposed to approved treasury policies and of any major 
breaches which have occurred. 

 
Any significant operational or other changes will be notified and discussed 

with the relevant Portfolio Holder.  This is currently the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance. Any actions resulting from this will be reported to Audit and 

Governance. If timescales are such that due to urgency, the formal reporting 
process cannot be utilised, then emergency authorisation will be sought 
through existing mechanisms. 

 
The CFO has delegated powers through this policy to take the most 

appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources, and to take the 
most appropriate form of investments in approved instruments. 
 

The CFO may delegate power to borrow and invest to members of staff.  All 
dealing transactions must be conducted by the CFO, or staff authorised by the 

CFO, to act as temporary cover for leave/sickness.  All transactions must be 
authorised by at least two of authorised signatories, one of which must be 
employed by ELDC. 

 
The CFO and the Monitoring Officer will ensure that the Policy is adhered to, 

and if not, will bring the matter to the attention of Councillors as soon as 
possible. 
 

Prior to entering into any capital financing, lending or investment transaction, 
it is the responsibility of the CFO to be satisfied, by reference to the 

Monitoring Officer, the Authority’s Legal Department and external advisors, as 
appropriate, that the proposed transaction does not breach any statute, 
external regulation or the Authority’s Financial Regulations. 

 
It is also the responsibility of the CFO to ensure that the Authority complies 

with the requirements of the Non Investment Products Code for principals and 
broking firms in the wholesale markets as well as the Financial Services 
Authority’s Code of Market Conduct. 

 
The CFO will ensure an accurate record of daily notifications received and 

document all investment decisions. 

Page 98



  APPENDIX 6 

 
 

 
The treasury management function is administered by Public Sector 

Partnership Services Limited and they will supply the following information to 
the CFO:  

 

• treasury management strategy statements and practices for approval 

• capital strategy reports  

• regular treasury management policy reports 

• budget and budget variation reports 

• management information reports 

• adequate treasury management resources and skills, and effective 
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function, 
and; 

• arranging the appointment of external treasury management advisors. 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



 

24 JAN  
 
Postponed 

to  
7 February 

2022 

• Draft Budget Setting Report and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2026/27 
Peter Davy, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Client) 

• Appointment of External Auditors  
Sam Knolwes  

28 MAR  
2022 

• Quarter 3 Risk Report 2021/22 
Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation Manager 

• Statement of Accounts (including Annual Governance Statement)  
Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) 

• Treasury Management Update 2021/22 - Quarter 3  
Jacqueline Mundy, Interim Treasury and Investment Manager 

• Accounting Policies  
Ellie Stacey, Deputy Chief Finance Officer (Corporate) 

• Internal Audit Progress Report 2021/22 
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

• Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 
Matt Waller, Internal Audit Team Manager 

• Model Code of Conduct  
Mark Stinson, Monitoring Officer 

• Monitoring Officer Update 
Mark Stinson, Monitoring Officer 

• External Audit Progress Report 
Mark Surridge / Jon Machej, Mazars 

• Quarter 2 Risk Report 2021/22 
Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation Manager 
 

 

 
 

 

Extra meeting – Combined Assurance  
 

 

P
age 101

A
genda Item

 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee - Training Delivered 

Title Format / Provider 
 

Date 

Overview of Local Government Finance Chief Finance Officer 22 May 2019 

Role and responsibilities of the Audit and Governance Committee  
(Mandatory for committee members) 
 

Chief Finance Officer 22 May 2019 

Conduct and Corporate Governance Monitoring Officer 24 June 2019 

What are the roles and responsibilities of local authority Audit Committees Webinar hosted by Mazars 24 June 2021 

New Model Code of Conduct LGA 31 August /  
1 September 2021 
 

Financial Statements Virtual - Internal 10 January 2022 

 

Future Topics Plans for Delivery How and When 
 

Finance Section 151 Officer Member Briefing 

Statement of Accounts Section 151 Officer Detailed session 

Audit Section 151 Officer Detailed session 

Treasury Management Section 151 Officer Fund Managers 

Pensions Section 151 Officer Fund Managers 

Governance Monitoring Officer Detailed session 

Ethics Monitoring Officer Member Briefing 

Standards Monitoring Officer Member Briefing 

Risk Management Monitoring Officer Member Briefing 

Cyber Security Monitoring Officer Member Briefing 

 

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	1 APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
	Appendix A - Invitation to become an opted-in authority

	2 DRAFT BUDGET SETTING REPORT AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2022/23 - 2026/27
	Appendix 1 - Summary by Portfolio 2022-23
	Appendix 2 - Summary by Service Area 2022-23
	Appendix 3 - Corporate Charging Policy 2022-23
	Appendix 4 - Fees & Charges 2022-23
	Appendix 5 Earmarked Reserves
	Appendix 6 Treasury Management Strategy MRP Policy and AIP 2022-23

	3 WORK PROGRAMME AND TRAINING UPDATE
	Audit and Governance Committee Training Update


